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MR. KELLEY: Okay. Good afternoon, and welcome to the Public Hearing for Proposed Regulations Under 

Internal Revenue Code Section 42 regarding the Average Income Tax to the Low-Income Housing credit. 

A Notice of Proposed Rulemaking was published in the Federal Register on October 30, 2020. We 

received a number of comments on proposed regulations while 15 requested to speak today. Each of 

these 15 speakers will have 10 minutes to present their comments. 

I will introduce each speaker and the operator will keep track of 10 minutes and announce when the 

time is up. I think we're also going to have warnings at three minutes and one minute to let speakers 

know that the clock is ticking down. 

After each speaker has finished their remarks, the government panel is going to ask any follow up 

questions they have and we'll move on to the next speaker. I think we're also going to shoot for about a 

10 minute break somewhere around 1:30 today. 

Okay. Let me go ahead and introduce our government panel. My name is Chris Kelley. I am a Special 

Counsel in the Passthroughs and Special Industries Division of the IRS Office of Chief Counsel. 

Joining me from Branch 5 of Passthroughs and Special Industries is James Holmes, a Senior Counsel, and 

Dillon Taylor, an Attorney Advisor; also joining us today from Treasury's Office of Tax Policy is Michael 

Novey, who is the Associate Tax and Legislative Counsel. And, with that, let's go ahead and begin the 

hearing. 

Our first speaker is Andrew Spofford of the Preservation of Affordable Housing. When you're ready? (No 

response) Mr. Spofford, did you — 

MR. SPOFFORD: Can you hear me? 

MR. KELLEY: Yes. 

MR. SPOFFORD: Great. 

MR. KELLEY: Thank you. 

MR. SPOFFORD: And so my name is Andrew Spofford, and I'm giving testimony on behalf of Preservation 

of Affordable Housing, or POAH, a national nonprofit affordable housing developer, owner, and 

operator. We appreciate the opportunity to share our perspective in this matter. 

POAH has extensive experience with the low-income housing tax credit. Since 2001, we have built or 

renovated more than 10,000 housing units and more than 100 transactions using the housing credit. 

To date, POAH has completed one project using the average income tests minimal set aside or AIT. We 

have two AIT projects currently in construction and more than 10 projects in the development pipeline 

structured using or are assuming that the AIT will be elected. You will hear from other speakers today 

with deeper expertise in LIHTC program administration, investment, and compliance. 

My comments are those of a developer and a practitioner derived from POAH's perspective as an 

experienced LIHTC developer and as an advocate for preservation of existing at-risk affordable housing 

property. I will describe POAH's support for the AIT as a tool for preservation and then I'll outline our 

concerns with the proposed rules treatment of the AIT minimum set aside. 



As our name implies, POAH is focused on the preservation of existing at-risk affordable housing 

communities. That mission informs our early support for the AIT as a tool to support preservation 

transactions which often include resident households between 60 percent and 80 percent of area 

median income. 

AIT allows those units between 60 and 80 percent of AMI to be included in LIHTC eligible places 

(phonetic) creating long-term affordability protections for those units and also allowing that to generate 

equity to support renovation work. 

We have also supported the AIT as a tool to allow the LIHTC to support deeper affordability and a wider 

overall income mix by allowing project sponsors to program units at 20 or 30 percent of AMI and then 

offset those lower rents with units targeting moderate income households at 70 or 80 percent of AMI. 

Our early AIT project that I described are realizing the promise of those goals. They include one 

preservation project and two new construction projects that feature deeply affordable AI units. 

However, in the months since the issuance of draft regulations to implement the AIT, we have had a 

much harder time engaging our investors for projects proposing to use the AIT. 

Many investors, including some we have worked with on multiple past projects, will not bid on AIT 

projects or condition their bids on our projects on our use of another set aside. This resistance among 

our investor partners stems from concerns which we share regarding the proposed regulations 

treatment of the AIT minimum set aside which we feel extends well beyond the requirements of the 

statute and is not consistent with the treatment of the other two LIHTC set asides and which creates 

very severe compliance risks for AIT project sponsors and investors. 

In particular, we are deeply concerned that the proposed regulations provide for a violation of the AIT 

minimum set asides and the pendent loss of all credit in the event that a single, noncompliant unit 

causes the overall average income designation of remaining LIHTC units to rise above 60 percent of AMI 

even if there remain at least 40 percent of LIHTC units with designations averaging 60 percent AMI or 

less. 

We feel that requirement is inconsistent with the statute which requires only that 40 percent of the 

project's units be rent restricted and occupied by income eligible households. 

This treatment is also inconsistent with the requirements of the other two set asides where isolated 

noncompliance triggers lots of credits or specific individual noncompliant units. 

But our project continues to satisfy the minimum set aside with 40 percent of its units remain in 

compliance for the 40 at 60 tests, or 20 percent of its units for the 20 at 50 set aside. This interpretation 

of the AIT minimum set aside test imposes extremely severe consequences on projects which elect the 

AIT and which have even isolated instances of noncompliance, potentially including the loss of all credits 

and recapture of having credit equity investments. 

Despite the AITs appeal as a tool for preservation and for serving lower income households, POAH will 

not be able to justify its use of AIT if it imposes such extreme risks. Already, as I have noted, investors 

with which we have worked successfully on numerous projects are indicating they cannot consider 

supporting our projects if they use the AIT set aside because of the risks imposed by the proposed 

regulations. 



While the proposed regulations do offer mitigation actions the taxpayer may take to correct violations 

of the AIT minimum set aside, this framework does not protect the project which learn of instances of 

noncompliance after the provided mitigation window had closed 60 days after the end of the calendar 

year in which the noncompliance occurred. 

As may have often happen, despite responsible owners best efforts to maintain compliance through 

compliance processes that used industry best practices for units sampling and frequency. 

Given these impacts, we urge the IRS to alter the final regulations to better align with the requirements 

of the statute and the treatment of the other set asides by providing that the AIT minimum set aside will 

be satisfied if 40 percent or more the project's units are occupied by households in compliance with 

income limitation designations averaging 60 percent or less of AMI. 

Thank you for the opportunity to testify today, happy to answer any questions. 

MR. KELLEY: Okay. Thank you very much, Mr. Spofford. Do any of our government panelists have any 

follow-up questions? 

(No response) Okay, that sounds like a no, so let's move on to our Next speaker which is Melissa 

Donahue of the Washington State Housing Finance Commission. Are you ready? 

MS. DONAHUE: Yes, I am ready, thank you. Thank you for the opportunity to testify today. My name is 

Melissa Donahue and I am testifying on behalf of the Washington State Housing Finance Commission, 

Washington State's LIHTC allocating agency. 

I am currently Acting Director of the Asset Management and Compliance Division at the Commission, 

and I have worked in the affordable housing industry for nearly 25 years with the last 15 at the 

Commission. Currently, my team monitors over 1,100, nine percent and four percent multifamily 

properties encompassing over 107,000 units across 39 counties in our state. 

The Commission urges the Internal Revenue Service to rescind the Notice of Proposed Rulemaking 

concerning the Section 42 Low-Income Housing Credit Average Income Tax Regulations. Instead, we ask 

the IRS to collaborate with NCSHA and HFA staff to resolve any challenges in the current legislation that 

may be preventing the successful deployment of the average income election. 

The proposed rule departs significantly from historical understanding and interpretation of code 

concerning federal elections and the minimum set aside tests. It introduces a unprecedented 

interpretation of the relationship between AMI's end units and it fails to deliver the flexibility that the 

income averaging election was intended to provide. 

The proposed rule imposes unnecessary operational and financial burdens on tax credit property 

owners and conflicts with other federal law concerning fair housing and the Violence Against Women 

Act. 

Finally, the proposed rule creates a numeral entry rule for housing finance agencies that has no basis in 

code. The intent of LIHTC program has always been associate AMI set asides with resident households 

not with units. 



Most LIHTC projects elect to not just the federal AMI but additional AMIs, as needed, to meet the 

housing needs of their communities. Owners and managers in Washington state are used to running 

projects with multiple AMI set asides and they have done so successfully for more than 20 years. 

Management companies are also adept in calibrating the AMI mixes across units of their properties to 

address changing household income and to ensure that vacant units can meet the needs of their 

markets. 

Irrevocably tying AMIs to units results in projects being unable to manage changing household 

circumstances without the costly expense of physically moving families to different units. And that's only 

if units at the appropriate AMI level are available. 

It also increases the risk of extended vacancies by restricting the households that can qualify for 

available units. The proposed rule is inconsistent with code in its interpretation of the minimum set 

aside test. 

Why is the proposed rules' interpretation of the minimum set aside test not consistent with other 

federal elections, and why does it create such an onerous standard for projects to meet? 

Both the 40 at 60 and the 20 at 50 elections require only that a portion of a project's units be income 

qualified by the end of the first credit year in order for that project to be a qualified LIHTC property. 

The proposed rule requires that 100 percent of the project's units must meet the minimum set aside 

test. This means that if one unit is out of compliance the entire project could fail the minimum set aside 

at the end of the end of the first credit year. 

When the average income election was created, the intent was to create an election that provided 

owners the flexibility to respond to specific market conditions and project operational needs over time. 

This flexibility is erased by the proposed rule. In fact, it prompts the question, why would an owner 

choose income averaging as an election at this point? The proposed rule obscures the intended benefit 

of this election. 

Related to noncompliance consequences, the proposed rule restricts the historical ability of HFAs to 

determine an appropriate cure period for noncompliance. When the Commission discovers 

noncompliance, we provided you a period consistent with guidance provided by the IRS in the 8823 

guide. Neither the guide nor code require noncompliance cures to take place within a certain timeframe 

after the close of a tax year. 

Given the Commission's workload and business processes, it would be impossible for us to notify an 

owner of average income noncompliance such that they could cure the noncompliance within 60 days 

after the close of the tax year. 

The proposed rule puts the burden entirely on the owner to be responsible for finding and fixing the 

average income violation in order to stay in compliance. To avoid potentially disasters in noncompliance 

projects with the average income election would, in fact, need to keep the property average below 60 

percent to create a buffer against failing the set aside. 



The tradeoff in anticipated revenue could have the effect of potentially increased deferred developer 

fees, greater risks of operating deficits, and other unintended costs which occur to balance that loss of 

revenue. 

The proposed rule conflicts with other federal legislation and potentially with other federal housing 

programs. Tax credit unit AMI designations could conflict with home unit based set asides and section 8 

voucher holders may have greater difficulty using their vouchers if AMI designations cannot be adjusted 

on vacant units. 

The restrictions posed by permanent AMI designations could also prevent the ability for a domestic 

violence victim to transfer to a new unit which would violate the federal Violence Against Women Act. 

Hard coded AMI designations could also interfere with an owner's ability to respond to a resident's 

request for a reasonable accommodation, thus, creating a potential fair housing issue. 

Finally, the proposed rule introduces the concept of unit removal for purposes of curing average 

income-related noncompliance. This is an entirely new concept which nothing else in code supports. 

This concept creates an option for disallowed credits instead of credit recapture. 

The concept of disallowed credits now places housing finance agencies in the position of deciding on 

which units the owner can claim credits. The historic and programmatic role of housing finance agencies 

is to simply report noncompliance as it is found not to track which units are allowed to take credits. The 

concept of unit removal unnecessarily complicates the process of curing average income noncompliance 

and it creates an onerous burden both for the owner and the HFA. 

If AMI designations were tied to households instead of units, an owner could potentially cure average 

income noncompliance simply by adjusting AMIs on the failed units and identifying other units where 

AMIs could be lowered based on actual household income. Such a cure is much more consistent with 

historical noncompliance guidance and the role of HFAs in the LIHTC program. 

In summary, the proposed rule makes significant departures from the treatment of federal elections, 

minimum set asides, AMI designations, and noncompliance determinations as framed in code and 

historical IRS guidance. 

It also renders the average income election impotent to deliver the promised benefits assumed in the 

election's original crafting. We respectfully ask the IRS to rescind the proposed rule in order to eliminate 

all of these unintended conflicts and to unleash the full potential of the average income election as it 

was originally efficient. 

Thank you very much for listening to my testimony, and I'm happy to answer any questions. 

MR. KELLEY: Thank you, Ms. Donahue. Any questions from our government panelists? (No response) 

Okay, hearing none — oh, one from Mike. 

MR. NOVEY: Oh, yeah, okay. 

MR. KELLEY: Please. 



MR. NOVEY: One, just we set the hearing time at a non-standard time in the hopes that it would make it 

more convenient for west coast folks. And so it would have been a shame if no one from the west coast 

had showed up to take advantage of it. 

So, thank you, not only for the substance of your comments, but simply for being here. 

MS. DONAHUE: (Laughter) Oh, no worries. This is definitely the time I'm rolling into my home office 

anyway. So, yep, it's perfect. (Laughter) 

MR. NOVEY: Okay, good. One of the suggestions that I hear you making implicitly is that the set aside 

should be treated as satisfied provided that some 40 percent of units have the appropriate designations. 

MS. DONAHUE: Yes. 

MR. NOVEY: Have you had a chance to think about what, if any, income or other restrictions applied to 

units beyond the 40 percent of which you would hope would configure to qualified basis? 

MS. DONAHUE: To be honest, can you say a little bit more about that because I'm not quite sue that I 

understand the question? 

MR. NOVEY: Okay. Let's say that you start with, say, a 100 percent low-income building and you have got 

your 40 percent, in fact, the entire building, hypothetically, averages the 40 percent. And, for some 

reason, not the fault of the building management, a couple of the lower designated units of sale to 

qualify as low-income units, for whatever reason. So the question then is, you now have a population of 

units and the question and so, is there any income requirement that we apply to the building that is 

outside the 40 percent? 

MS. DONAHUE: Well, all right, I'm going to try to answer and hopefully I'm getting it — what you're 

asking for, so we'll muddle through this. So the majority of our projects in Washington State are 100 

percent affordable. And so, you know, 40 at 60 is perfect. You know, we know that people are going to 

be able to meet 40 at 60 because in theory 100 percent of the project is going to be at 60 or below, and 

so we're not — we shouldn't have an issue with 40 at 60 at all. 

And so if you've got some low-income units like a 30 percent or a 40 percent, but it turns out, oh my 

gosh, no, they would actually qualify at 60. You know, then we can look at other units, you know, 

anywhere in the project and say, okay, are there other households whose actual income would allow 

their AMI set aside to be adjusted so that we can get this whole project to average out at 60 percent. 

And, again, because the whole project is 100 percent affordable we're not worried about, you know, and 

again assuming that — and most of our developers are going to take, you know, all BINs (phonetic) are 

qualified together as a single project. So they're generally, I don't think, we wouldn't anticipate that 

there would be a great deal of difficulty in figuring out how to recalibrate those AMIs and figuring out 

how to get the entire project averaging back at 60 percent. 

MR. NOVEY: Okay, so you're — what I hear you saying is that you think that the whole project ought to 

end up averaged at 60, but — 

MS. DONAHUE: Yes. 



MR. NOVEY: But there might be some situations where that was either so difficult that it would be unfair 

to tenants or just impossible for the building management. What's going to happen to avoid the — I 

mean, it shouldn't be that — none of this — 

MS. DONAHUE: Exactly. 

MR. NOVEY: Some of the other speakers have written with some examples where they showed a 

building being satisfied with, you know, a bunch of 20s and twice that number of 80s, and everything 

looks good. 

MS. DONAHUE: Sure. 

MR. NOVEY: And then one of the 20s gets taken offline. Let's assume that none of your adjustments and 

recalibrations would be sufficient to bring the additional 60 percentage units into a posture where the 

building average is 60 already 

average of the additional 60 units is 60. How do you (inaudible)? 

MS. DONAHUE: Well, in that situation if you really cannot recalibrate anywhere across the project or 

across that BIN then I suppose it would be unavoidable, but the risk of that happening is much greater if 

the entire project has to average if all of the units have to average out to 60 rather than just 40 percent 

at 60. Does that — 

MR. NOVEY: Let's assume you get your request, only percent have to average to 60. 

MS. DONAHUE: Uh-huh. 

MR. NOVEY: Now the question is, are there demands that being within the set-aside places on the 

remaining 60 percent of units? I assume you would not be happy if the remaining 60 percentage units 

were all at 80 percent units. 

MS. DONAHUE: Right. Well, and part of the way that we get at that is because in our allocation process 

we're incentivizing folks to, for example, right now we're incentivizing folks to choose an average of set-

aside — to choose a mixture of set-asides that would allow them to average out the project at 50 

percent. 

MR. NOVEY: Okay. 

MS. DONAHUE: So in order to — you know, so doing that, for example — 

MR. NOVEY: Sure. 

MS. DONAHUE: — really helps to mitigate those kinds of risks, and because we're really focused on 

trying to get projects to serve as many low-income folks as possible. You know, that's not the only way 

to get points in our system, but all of the ways that we structure those incentives is to help those 

projects serve as many low-income folks as possible. 

So projects that are coming in and are requesting, or have requested, average income in the recent past 

have not projected that they would choose very many units at 80 percent. They would choose the bulk 

of their units are really hovering more between 50 and 60, and trying to include more units on the lower 

end of the scale rather than the higher end of the scale. 



And in fact a number of the projects that have come in asking to use income averaging have been 

housing authority recapitalizations where they have in place households that they cannot ask to move. 

And those households are over 60 percent and so they want to be able to assign some higher AMIs to 

those households in order to make sure that they don't have to worry about credit recapture on those 

units. 

So, to be honest in our market we would not — we don't have — I don't think we have a real fear of 

people — of projects really going over that cliff. But the problem is that if one unit throws all of the units 

off then that cliff is there and it hits that cliff — just there's that higher — the risk is much higher and 

much more immediate that that cliff could be met. 

And I think that the bigger issue for us and it's — how to put it — I think the thing that we are most 

concerned about in terms of managing income averaging over time is really this connection, or this tying 

of AMIs to units. Which it just feels really burdensome and really takes away all of the flexibility that we 

understood income averaging to bestow on projects. And that's really where our primary concern is 

focused, is on that. 

MR. NOVEY: Yeah, we have heard — as, you know, from you and from others that some degree of 

greater flexibility in terms of appropriate circumstances in which the income designations for a unit can 

be altered. We've heard that, we're thinking about it. That seems something that would reduce the 

likelihood of the cliff. 

MS. DONAHUE: Yes, absolutely. 

MR. NOVEY: But analytically — I mean one of the other things that we've gotten requests for is that the 

ability to avoid disqualification of the entire building — or the entire project building. Not nearly be — 

sorry — the likelihood of (inaudible) should not merely be reduced, it should be eliminated — or there 

should be an absolute fail-safe process that would allow the project to go forward. 

And the ability of the project to remain qualified and to have credits earned from at least most of the 

remaining 60 percentage units is something where people have asked us not merely for an increased 

likelihood that they will escape the more draconian possibility, but a certainty that they have a process 

to escape that possibility. 

MS. DONAHUE: Yeah.I don't know who that protects. We would not. You know, and, again, our 

experience is we've got owners and developers in Washington State who are managing projects with 

two, three, four separate AMIs. And they're juggling them all over the project, all over multiple 

buildings. They're juggling special needs commitments for target populations. They're targeting several 

different layers of funding obligations and requirements, and they're doing it really well. 

And they're doing it strategically because they're seeing over time, you know, units household 

circumstances change. And tying an AMI to a unit absolutely prevents projects — prevents owners and 

managers from responding strategically to what's happening in their projects and in their markets. 

And, you know, and a perfect example how AMIs, you know, are really understood to be tied with 

households is in the tax credit program is looking at the concept of empty units. 

MR. NOVEY: Uh-huh. 



MS. DONAHUE: You know, but the empty unit is qualified when a qualified household is in the unit. And 

if that household moves to another empty unit they qualify that unit and the unit they were in is, you 

know, then becomes empty. 

So, you know, I think that there is a real rich history of successful management of multiple AMIs on 

projects and managing those according to the needs of households and not based on this static map of, 

well, we're going to assign AMIs to particular units that just fails to take into consideration all of the 

incredible amount of change and activity that happens at a project over time. And that allows a project 

to still be vital and relevant in its market and in its community. 

And so I really think that there just is not — from our prospective there is not a truly persuasive 

argument for assigning AMIs to units. Because it just — sorry — I could keep going but I won't. 

MR. NOVEY: No, no, no. I'm just — you know — I hear the passion and I understand why it's really 

important. The question that I'm trying to wrestle with is whether or not adequate flexibility will in all 

cases protect project status from a situation where if you're — you know — assuming that the 40 

percent of units have their requisite average but you believe that there are some income requirements 

for the remaining 60 percent or slight — or almost 60 percent of units, which if not necessary for project 

qualification certainly are taken into account in looking at how much the units contribute to qualified 

basis. And there — if there are income requirements that the remaining 60 percent has to meet, 

although redesignation flexibility may help them meet it, the people that have asked us for a fail-safe, it 

will always work, might not be persuaded that flexibility will always, always, always be enough. 

MS. DONAHUE: Well, you know, it's interesting. Because I think that to me implies a particular 

relationship between HFAs and owners, or between investors and projects, that I don't think is 

necessarily (inaudible) across the country. So, you know, one response might be, a sort of classic 

response might be leave it up to HFAs to decide what they think their states need. 

In Washington we would rather allow projects to — because we have such experienced and such 

dedicated players in our state, we want to give them the opportunity to leverage the original vision of 

the average income election to the best of their ability. And trust them to come up with ways to ensure 

that they are going to be able to stay in compliance, and it will absolutely help them do that. 

We're not interested in solving a problem that we're not sure necessarily exists or will exist on a large 

scale. So I would say that it may be that instead of choosing one or the other, it may be that perhaps the 

way to do it is to say let states choose how they want to see this implemented. 

MR. NOVEY: But you do agree — and I'm sorry to be so long on the questions — different clarified — 

MS. DONAHUE: No worries. 

MR. NOVEY: I hear you saying that although you have not defined what the income status of your 

remaining 60 percent, or 59 or 58, percent of units would have to be in order for all of them to 

contribute to qualified basis, you believe that there is at least some income designation requirement 

and income compliance in terms of the tenants, that would be appropriate in deciding whether or not 

the full qualified basis, and take virtually all of that additional 60 percent of units into account. 

MS. DONAHUE: Yes. And one of the things we had originally talked about as a team was when we 

assumed that AMIs would be tied to households was that our owners turn in annual reports which cover 



the previous tax year. And so in those annual report materials we were going to ask for a spreadsheet 

that showed their particular AMI designations across every unit and showed how they all averaged to 60 

percent. And also, you know, met their bond minimum set aside if they're a 4 percent deal, as of 12/31. 

MR. NOVEY: Uh-huh, uh-huh. 

MS. DONAHUE: And so they would turn that spreadsheet into us so that we would then have something 

to measure against when we go and look at all of their other materials. And we audit resident 

certifications and so that would then be the owners' certification, here's all of my units, here's the AMIs, 

here's how it averages all to 60 percent, and like everything else we're going do that test as of 12/31. 

And if it comes out to 60 percent in our audit shows consistency with that certification on the part of the 

owner, then we're satisfied. 

MR. NOVEY: Uh-huh, uh-huh. Ms. Donahue, thank you so much, you've been tremendously helpful. 

MS. DONAHUE: I'm glad to be here, thank you for this opportunity, we really appreciate it. 

MR. KELLEY: Okay, thanks Ms. Donohue, thanks Mike. Let's move on to our next speaker, Wendy 

Quackenbush from the Texas Department of Housing and Community Affairs. 

MS. QUACKENBUSH: Yes, hello and good afternoon. Can you all hear me okay? 

MR. KELLEY: Yep. 

MS. QUACKENBUSH: Great. Hi, my name is Wendy Quackenbush, the Director of Compliance Monitoring 

for the Texas Department of Housing and Community Affairs. I've been monitoring the low-income 

housing tax credit program in Texas for 19 years and I'm passionate about the program and the housing 

opportunities it creates for families. 

TDHCA is the allocating and monitoring agency for the low-income housing tax credit program for the 

State of Texas. Thank you, Internal Revenue Service and Treasury representatives, for the opportunity to 

provide testimony on the proposed rulemaking for the low-income housing tax credit average income 

test regulation. As such, TDHCA has concerns regarding the proposed regulations as currently written 

and has requested changes that will benefit all parties involved. 

During my brief testimony today I'll be focusing on seeking equal treatment for all minimum satisfying 

the ability to modify and change unit designation, and the disposition of existing average income test 

properties. TDHCA encourages the Internal Revenue Service and Treasury to consider average income 

minimum satisfy be met so long as 40 percent of the units in a project have an average of 60 percent or 

less area median for its income. 

This is a logical and reasonable interpretation of section 40(q)(g)(1)(c). The average income set aside 

should be equally and consistently interpreted with the other set of sides, specifically meaning that it is 

a minimum that must be met. As fracted, average income bills would have to be 60 percent average 

across all units in order to claim any credit at all. With the other set of sides, it is the minimum that must 

be met in order to claim any of the credit. Specifically, 20 percent of the units occupied put households 

at 50 percent AMI or less, for 40 percent of the units occupied put households at 60 percent AMI or less. 

This would allow us to monitor all minimum satisfied election requirements in the same manner and 



allow us to continue to provide our housing partners consistent training and technical assistance on the 

topic. 

The administration of the Low-Income Housing Tax Credit Program rules can be challenging to any 

taxpayer to administer. Adding a more complex layer of compliance requirements for the average 

income minimum satisfied will result in more reportable noncompliance to the IRS. For example, 

violating the minimum satisfied during the Federal compliance period is one of the most egregious 

findings a taxpayer can receive because it results in the loss of all credits in the project until the 

minimum satisfied is restored. If the minimum satisfied is violated the first year in the credit period, 

there is no corrections, and all credits are lost forever. 

Additionally, rather than the complex and extremely difficult to administer concept of removed units 

and mitigating actions, if a unit is out of compliance, causing the project average to go above 60 percent 

AMI, the unit or units should be cited with noncompliance, instead of violation of minimum satisfied, 

provided that 40 percent of the units still meet 60 percent average. This would demonstrate consistent 

treatment with the other minimums satisfied, the 20 at 50, and 40 at 60, and the longstanding concept 

of calculating a building applicable fraction. 

Under the proposed rule, one noncompliant unit in the project could result in the violation of the 

minimum satisfied. Obviously, if there's one unit out of compliance, that unit does not belong in the 

numerator of the applicable fraction. However, to suggest that a project that is intended to be 100 

percent low-income should not be eligible to claim any credit at all because one unit is out of 

compliance is unreasonable. 

TDHCA annually monitors between 650 to 800 developments each year, and we find that most 

noncompliance is accidental, with no malintent. 

It seems extreme that one unit with a noncompliance issue could cause a project to fail to meet the 

minimum satisfied. For example, a four-unit average income project, you have one unit designated at 50 

percent, two units designated at 60 percent, and one unit designated at 50 percent, results in a project 

average of 60 percent. We go out and monitor the project and discover that the 50 percent unit was 

accidentally overcharged rent by one dollar per month, thus causing the project average to increase 

above 60 percent. 

It is suggested that the owner would need to remove the unit or take mitigating actions to correct 

noncompliance. This situation should be treated exactly the same way it would be on the development 

that has elected either the 20 at 50 or 40 at 60 minimum satisfied. This unit should be cited with 

noncompliance, under the category of gross rent exceeds tax credit limits, on line 8 and line 11G of the 

88-23 Low-Income Credit Agency Report of Noncompliance or Building Disposition Form. 

We urge the IRS and Treasury to treat the average income minimum satisfied consistently with the other 

minimum satisfied options and eliminate the need for owners to take mitigating actions to correct 

noncompliance. TDHCA urges the IRS and Treasury to allow owners to modify unit designation 

throughout the affordability period. If the owners have policies in place for the change and the state 

agencies consent to the change, this should be acceptable. Unit designation changes are needed to 

comply with the Federal Fair Housing Act, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1970, 1973, the 

Violence Against Women Act, and any other applicable Federal statute or regulation. 



Additionally, unit designation changes are needed to accommodate household transfers, regardless if 

the household is moving to a new unit within the same project, as defined on line 8B of Form 8609, or 

another project in the development and when a household's income increases above the current 

program designation. Speaking from monitoring experience, it is essential that unit designations have 

the ability to change and float throughout the development. Frequently, changes in household income, 

as well as other circumstances, are not stagnant, but are often influx for family. This is of particular 

relevance when framed by the economic conditions experienced by the average household this past 

year. 

SPEAKER: This is your three-minute warning. 

MS. QUACKENBUSH: I'm sorry, what? What did you say? 

SPEAKER: This is your three-minute warning. 

MS. QUACKENBUSH: Thank you. With those changes, we require flexibility when administering the 

program. For example, if a household is supposed to be 40 percent designation and there's an income 

calculation error resulting in the household's income being a little over the 40 percent income, while 

another unit designated 50 percent, that that household — that household occupying the unit, in reality, 

has an income below 40 percent, yet is paying the 50 percent rent. Permanently tying unit designations 

to specific units throughout the affordability period will not work, not in just this case, but in many other 

real-life situations. There are numerous other scenarios to — that we can provide as examples, why this 

provision is not feasible and how it'd ultimately have a negative impact on the people we are trying to 

serve with this program, including the potential for displacing or imposing higher rents on low-income 

households. 

Lastly, TDHCA recommends that the Internal Revenue Service and Treasury to allow owners' average 

income projects a reasonable grace period with the option of choosing a different minimum satisfied, 

that significant changes are not made to the proposed rule. TDHCA did not anticipate the IRS proposed 

rule to be such a stark difference, as compared to the policies that we have currently implemented in 

Texas. Therefore, I urge the IRS and Treasury to support the proposed changes that TDHCA is 

recommending. It is the desire of TDHCA to have the average income minimum satisfied treated 

consistently with the other two minimum satisfied, allow income designations to be modified, and allow 

owners the opportunity to change average income election to one or the other satisfied option, if 

significant changes are not made to the proposed rule. Thank you for your attention to these important 

issues. TDHCA also supports the National Council of State Housing Agency's comments that are also 

being made today. I'll be happy to answer any questions and thank you again for your time today. 

MR. KELLEY: Thank you, Ms. Quackenbush. Any government panelists with any follow up questions? 

MR. HOLMES: This is James Holmes. I just have one quick follow up. When you were talking about 

designations, I just want to understand exactly what you were proposing, in terms of — you said 

something about allow unit designations to be modified, if the state consents to the unit designation. Is 

the proposal that you're asking about — would it always require the state's consent, or are you 

proposing where — when you say Fair Housing Act, Violence Against Women Act, that those things 

would be not required to have a state's consent? I'm just trying to — I just want to kind of unpack. 



MS. QUACKENBUSH: Sure. So, for the — and that's a great question. For the state of Texas, we have our 

monitoring rule and the Texas Administrative Code, and so, we have specific guidelines when a 

household designation can be changed. So, typically, if — so, we have guidelines that we give owners 

that say, if you're going to change an income designation, it needs to meet this criteria, and let me just 

give you an example. If a household's income is currently in a 50 percent unit, that's designated, and 

they're paying 50 percent rent, and the household income qualifies, what we don't want to happen after 

recertification process is for an owner to inadvertently designate that unit to a 60 percent household, 

for example, and then lease that unit to another 50 percent household. So, we don't allow that change 

to happen, unless the household's income changes. So, we want to make sure that those lower tier 

units, those units that are occupied at the 30, 40, 50 percent, for those households, they cannot change 

their designation, for example, unless their income changes. 

MR. HOLMES: Okay, but in some situations, I'm just wondering when I — if someone was going to 

redesignate a unit, do they always come to you, or are there some situations where the owner can do it, 

like, themselves, and then tell you about it later? 

MS. QUACKENBUSH: Right. So, we have a very large portfolio for — no, owners do not need to come to 

us for every time they change their designation. They need to follow our written policies, our written 

rules. And there are going to be times that designation changes need to happen, just like in the case of a 

reasonable accommodation made by a household, for instance, or a household's income circumstances 

have changed, and so, they need a lower tier. Maybe somebody in the household lost their job. But that 

doesn't require our permission each time. 

MR. HOLMES: Okay.Thank you. 

MS. QUACKENBUSH: Thank you. 

MR. KELLEY: Okay. Any other questions? All right. Thank you, Ms. Quackenbush. Let's move onto our 

next speaker, who is Brian Coffee, of the Affordable Housing Investors Council. Mr. Coffee? 

MR. COFFEE: Yes. Thank you for the opportunity to speak with you today. This is Brian Coffee. I am 

President of the Affordable Housing Investors Council, which we'll refer to as AHIC. AHIC is a nonprofit 

association, whose 60-member corporations invest in affordable housing through the Low-Income 

Housing Tax Credit. They represent the bulk of the market and have invested more than $120 billion in 

all states and territories. 

Our organization seeks to strengthen the Housing Credit as an efficient and effective tool for the 

development of affordable housing in the United States. AHIC furthers this mission by providing 

educational opportunities to investors, developing best practices, creating a form for investors to share 

their insights on the issues facing the industry, and promoting the investor's voice and perspective in 

this unique public-private partnership. 

AHIC's underlying guidelines have been adopted as the standard by the field and have contributed to the 

tremendous success of the program and in this position is the best performing real estate asset class in 

the country. Investors are supportive of the average income satisfied for two reasons. 

First, it advances important policy and community goals by offering the potential to serve households 

that are both very low-income, as low as 20 or 30 percent of the AMI, and lower middle-income 



individuals, as high as 70 or 80 percent. The benefits of this flexibility are clear. It allows the provision of 

housing to extremely low-income renters who, without these subsidies, it would not be feasible to 

include. 

In this time of a national crisis in affordable housing, a situation compounded by the ravages of COVID-

19 and this disproportionate economic impact on Black and Latino Americans, reaching these 20 and 30 

percent AMI individuals and families is essential. 

In rural communities, drawing upon smaller population, the broader income distribution could lead to 

better alignment with area needs and strengthen the financial stability of a development. As an example 

of this, a family with both parents fully employed and earning minimum wage can often fail to qualify 

for an Affordable Housing Credit Apartment, that their combined income would be greater than 60 

percent of the prevailing medium. 

In high cost areas, where soaring rents have squeezed the ability of lower wage employees to afford 

market rate housing, the 70 and 80 percent bands can provide breathing room for working families, 

paying upwards of 50 percent or more of their income on housing. And research suggests that housing 

policies encouraging greater economic integration will lead to better economic outcomes for lower 

income children. 

Second, the ability to structure rents under the average income test is important to help facilitate the 

preservation of affordable housing with existing residents who are in that 60 to 80 percent income 

band, for example, in the conversion of public housing developments. Income averaging allows existing 

households and up to the 80 percent threshold to qualify, under the Housing Credit, thus avoiding the 

removal of them from the project's basis, or the challenging efforts to relocate them to somewhere else. 

A Harvard Joint Center for Housing Studies 2019 Report notes that our country, as a whole, has lost 

nearly 4,000 low-cost rural homes, since 1990. Preservation has never been more critical, and the 

average income methodology can be a key component to support the financial feasibility of a 

rehabilitation transaction. 

Because it is a new program, income averaging is not addressed in our underlying guidelines. However, 

our guidelines for market rate income acknowledge investor concerns over the greater risk associated 

with mixed-income projects, with market rate units, and it suggests possible mitigants. The guidelines 

note that investors are sensitive to assuming market rate risks for non-market rate returns. 

Some AHIC members are precluded by their institutions from investing in Housing Credit transactions, 

that include any market rate units, and some have caps on a percentage of market rate units that can be 

included. Because of these constraints, income averaging is an important tool for serving a diverse 

population. The new set aside provides for a broader mix of tenant incomes, without these barriers 

some investors face, by allowing market rate units in the Housing Credit Structure. 

After the legislation authorizing the average income test passed in 2018, allocating agencies started to 

develop polices for its use. Investors began to examine the approaches of individual states to determine 

whether they should also invest in developments using the new set aside, and if so, how they would 

underline these deals. While a handful of investors were not comfortable with investing absent IRS 

guidance, many others, including my institution, decided to go ahead and invest, based on the 

parameters crafted by state agencies. In most instances, where they decided to move forward, investors 



deemed it prudent to include a small cushion as a buffer to the overall 60 percent average, in case of 

any compliance issues. 

In our written comments to the Internal Revenue, AHIC and others in the industry have shared the 

consternation to follow the subsequent release of the IRS's proposed regulations. We, and our 

colleagues, in the Affordable Housing Arena, have expressed our grave concerns that the IRS's proposed 

interpretations of the statue, the penalties for violation of the minimum set aside, the timing and 

strategies for mitigating compliance violations, and the prohibition on floating unit designations could all 

lead to an investor moratorium and to developers retreating from realizing the new set aside. 

This fear has now begun to be realized. After the proposed regulations were released, investors really 

continued to move ahead in transactions that were on a threshold closing. Though some sought 

additional mitigants, such as a deeper cushion to the 60 percent average, intensive third-party 

compliance support during lease up, and enhanced third-party monitoring, at more frequent intervals, 

over the compliance period. 

Now, increasing numbers of investors are pulling back altogether, and the market for deals utilizing the 

average income is starting to freeze up. Investors' qualms are being primarily driven by the possibility of 

a cliff event, under which an error in initial year of lease up could lead to the loss of credits for the entire 

investment period. As one fund investor commented, I don't think there are too many developers who 

have $7 million to make me whole, if they bullocks up the simple compliance test. 

In addition, some developers are abandoning the concept altogether. Some investors — 

SPEAKER: This is your three-minute warning. 

MR. COFFEE: Thank you. Some investors are still cautiously evaluating the experience of developers, the 

capacity of their management firms, and the structure of the transactions, and deciding to continue on a 

move ahead on a limited case by case basis. They are carrying on under the assumption that the IRS will 

respond favorably to industry concerns over the proposed rules, and they are taking comfort from the 

example of the IRS's time — 

In conclusion, AHIC recommends that the IRS consider the average income test minimum set-aside met 

if 40 percent of the units average 60 percent or less of AMI. The property should also have an overall 

average of no more than 60 percent of AMI across all held credit units. And if a property-wide average 

were to go above the 60 percent then this should be deemed noncompliance for the particular unit but 

not a violation of the minimum set-aside if 40 percent of the units still meet the 60 percent average. And 

I believe that this addresses some early concerns expressed by the service. 

Secondly, adopt the alternative mitigating action described in the preamble if the IRS retains the 

interpretation of the average income set-aside reflected in the proposed regulations. 

Three, permit the modification of unit designations as is allowable under the other minimum set-asides. 

Four, allow mitigation to occur within 90 days after noncompliance is identified and communicated to 

the property owner by the allocating agency. And number — 

Five, if necessary, extend further relief for existing developments that elected the average income set-

aside prior to the publication of the proposed regulations. 



And just as a side note, many AHIC members, investors, treat the compliance period very importantly. 

We actually engage our own third party to review the compliance of the units and we truly understand 

the Internal Revenue's position and we, too, want to ensure that a property remains within the income 

set-asides as noted in the code. 

Thank you for your time and hard work in putting together the draft regulations and for the opportunity 

to address with you today on income averaging. We hope that the Internal Revenue will craft our rules 

that will support a thriving market for investment and properties using the average income set-aside. 

MR. KELLEY: Okay, thank you, Mr. Coffee. Any questions from our panelists? 

MR. NOVEY: One quick question though I want to defer to the IRS folks if they had something first. Okay. 

Mr. Coffee, thank you, you actually addressed a question that I had earlier posed to Ms. Donahue. And 

that is what requirements are to apply to the units that are not part of the 40 percent that are taken 

into account for purposes of testing the set-aside? And I think I heard you just say that those remaining 

units also ought to satisfy average 60. 

MR. COFFEE: That's correct. If I could just say as a pragmatic point, virtually all the projects we invest in 

have 100 percent designation for (inaudible). So you've already had the compliance tested there and as 

these agencies have noted, there's really pretty robust testing both at the state level and then as I 

mentioned earlier, at the investor level. 

And with the income averaging, just it's important to note that the overall property income is not 

increasing. As opposed — those before you may have had all 60 percent units, now you have a blend of 

20s, 30s, 50s, 60s, and then maybe some 70s and 80s. But the overall average is the same. And so, you 

know, we actually like it from an economic and policy standpoint. We just — and we understand that 

the concern that this may — there may be compliance issues that enrich some of the property owners. 

And that's not the intent here. We just want some more pragmatism and flexibility on ensuring that the 

compliance is met. 

MR. NOVEY: Right, got it. So I just to make sure that I'm understanding what you're saying. You said that 

in addition to the 40 percent that ought to satisfy average 60, the remaining units that are taken into 

account for purposes of qualified basis also ought to satisfy average 60. And in the example of — that I 

think it's been kicked around a fair amount — if one of the lower income units — lowered income 

designation units, pardon me — in — let's call it the non-satisfied population, gets taken out of your 

income year status, you would then have an average in the non-satisfied population which is over 60. 

I think you just said the offending unit would be not taken into account for purposes of qualified basis 

but how would you decide which is the offending unit. Because the higher designation units in that 

population were all good until some other unit went out of compliance. So would the building owner or 

manager just sort of say okay I'm going to pull this higher designation unit out of the computation so 

that the units contributing to qualified basis all have (inaudible) average? Or would you prefer 

something else? 

MR. COFFEE: No. Well, first of all, we'd like to have some kind of cure period, which you typically see. 

But then secondly, I think your point under this — 



MR. NOVEY: Then I'm assuming there would be all of the good things and all of the flexible things that 

have been requested. Not necessarily of your own doing, but I want to understand what your proposal is 

if at the end of the day there's — after all the good faith efforts have been made, there is still a problem. 

MR. COFFEE: Well, I think — and others on the phone may disagree with me — but I think the premise 

would be that yes, indeed, we'd have to remove one or maybe two or three of the offending higher 

income units to bring it back to within 60 percent. 

MR. NOVEY: I see, I follow, thank you. 

MR. KELLEY: Okay, any further questions? All right, Mr. Coffee, thank you. Let's move on to our next 

speakers. I've got Emily Cadik and Michael Gaber from the Affordable Housing Tax Credit Coalition. 

MS. CADIK: All right, thank you, good afternoon. I'm Emily Cadik, Executive Director of the Affordable 

Housing Tax Credit Coalition. And we thank the IRS for the opportunity to comment on the proposed 

average income test regulation. I'm also joined by our board chairman, Michael Gaber, Executive Vice 

President at WMC to jointly present our concerns and recommendations. 

The HTCC is a leading trade association of nearly 200 organizations and businesses that have been 

advocating since 1988 for affordable housing finance using a housing credit. Our membership represents 

the full spectrum of business involved in the nation's affordable housing delivery system including 

syndicators, developers, investors, state agencies, and affiliated organizations. And together our 

members have financed or developed well over half of the nearly 3.5 million housing credit apartments 

that have been built nationwide. 

The HTCC's strongest support scheme for managing flexibility — which has been widely used to make 

more types of affordable housing developments possible since its enactment in 2018. However, we're 

concerned that the IRS proposed regulations will severely limit utilization of the income averaging 

flexibility and already are. And we're proposing alternative approaches to ensure that income averaging 

remains a viable option. 

The HTCC, the broader affordable housing community, and the sponsors of the Affordable Housing 

Credit Improvement Act supported an average income test because it would make more types of 

affordable housing financially feasible and serve a broader range of low-income tenants. For example, 

where the tenant base is shallow, such as in rural areas, our broader range of eligible income levels 

provides more flexibility for initial lease-ups and more stability for continued occupancy while allowing 

the development to reach a broader segment of the population. 

In higher cost areas it provides more affordable housing options for low-income renters in the 60 to 80 

percent of area median income range for whom affordable housing may be unavailable but market rate 

rents are still out of reach. Also, it allows the housing credit to serve more extremely low-income 

tenants whose lower rents can be offset by rents from higher income tenants in the same development. 

We've been heavily involved in the drafting of the 2017 Affordable Housing Credit Improvement Act. We 

are confident that the bill's sponsors share these views and did not intend for the average income set-

aside test to be more restrictive than the other two existing set-aside tests. 

In fact, Senate Finance Committee Chairman Ron Wyden, an original sponsor of the Affordable Housing 

Credit Improvement Act, confirmed in a letter to the Affordable Housing Tax Credit Coalition that he is 



concerned that the recent regulations proposed by the Internal Revenue Service regarding the average 

income test run contrary to the intent of the legislation and would dramatically weaken its intended 

benefits. He continues, my fellow sponsors and I intended that the average income test minimum set-

aside would operate similarly to the other minimum set-aside tests in housing credit programs. 

The AHTCC agrees. We believe the proposed regulations pose substantially greater risk than either of 

the two existing set-aside tests which draft punitive consequences they're already serving as a deterrent 

to using the income averaging option. The minimum set-aside test has generally not been seen to 

provide substantial risk in housing credit transactions to date because violating the existing set-asides 

have — requires a systematic failure to lease units to qualified tenants. 

In the proposed regulations only a very small number of units leased to higher income tenants threaten 

the tax credits for the entire development. We also believe that the proposed regulations unduly 

penalize serving tenants between 60 and 80 percent of area median income. Tenants below 80 percent 

of area median income are considered low-income and eligible for nearly all other affordable and 

assisted housing programs. And by enacting the income averaging flexibility Congress recognized their 

value of serving this whole range of low-income tenants to the housing credit. 

Temporarily serving a higher proportion of tenants between 60 and 80 percent of area median income, 

until the original income mix can be restored, should not cause a total failure of the development to 

qualify for housing credit. Even in their proposed form the regulations are having the effect of limiting 

utilization of the income averaging option, including for developments already under way, posing risks 

to project financing and ultimately to the low-income tenants these projects serve. 

To further discuss the impact to the housing credit market, I'll yield the remainder of the AHTCC's time 

to our broad chairman, Michael Gaber of WNC. 

MR. GABER: Thank you, Emily. And thank you to the IRS for this opportunity to weigh in. 

WNC is a syndicator and developer for affordable housing for the last 50 years. We have participated in 

nearly 100,000 units and housed nearly a million affordable individuals in 1500 properties in 47 states 

across the country. 

First I want to emphasize how many more types of properties income averaging has made possible. It is 

important to note that all LITEC properties must go through significant underwriting, including the 

lenders, syndicators, and investors. In some LITEC properties the only way to meet the capture rate 

required to pass underwriting and to secure permanent debt is by utilizing the average income test. 

Traditionally low-income housing tax credit properties serve the residents of a community that are in 

between 40 and 60 percent of median income. Unless there are additional subsidies to help serve even 

lower income tests. However, the average income test has allowed low-income housing tax credit 

properties to serve the larger percentage of the population by going as high as 80 percent of the median 

income, and balancing it out with an equal number of residents at significantly lower median income. 

For some properties, especially those in more rural areas, and those located in very low-income 

communities, this expanded band of potential residents is the difference between a property being 

financially feasible or not. Income averaging has become very wide spread, both because of these 

benefits and the fact that many states prioritized it after it was enacted. Many states actually have 



qualified allocation plan provisions that require an income averaging election in order to score enough 

points to receive an allocation of 9 percent credits. 

This means there is now a very large share of housing credit developments that are at risk because of 

the proposed regulations and it is affecting states' ability to meet their housing goals. We are currently 

experiencing an increasing number of investors who are unwilling to invest in these low-income 

affordable housing tax credit developments utilizing the income averaging flexibility. While investors 

typically like the flexibility this option provides, the risk of recapture is too punitive and substantial. 

As a direct result of the proposed regulation interpretation, many investors have taken the position they 

are not currently willing to invest in LITEC properties that are utilizing the average income test due to 

the risk of recapture. Under the proposed regulations even if substantially more than 40 percent of the 

units are designated units and in compliance, but the average income of those units is greater than 60 

percent of ANGI, no housing credits are available to be claimed and a recapture of previously claimed 

credits would be required absent the availability and election of a mitigating action. 

To compound this issue the most common investment is into a multi-investor fund that could include 

five or ten investors all coming together into one single fund. However, if any one investor chooses not 

to invest in a LITEC property that's utilizing average income, the entire fund, consisting of 25 properties 

or more, could be at risk. 

There are many examples of properties that have completed construction and elected the average 

income test prior to this proposed regulation interpretation that are now potentially put on hold. Some 

of these transactions have already completed the construction or rehab necessary and are waiting 

conversion to permanent debt. A few of our examples that we have from our portfolio include a couple 

of properties in Northern California, Charles Gardens, a 201 unit property with 13 units at 70 percent 

and seven units at 80 percent. This was also financed through a HEAD (phonetic) transaction. This 

developer's facing the real possibility of having to remove the 20 current households at the higher 

income levels in order to move forward with an investor. 

Since their higher incomes could now threaten the credits on the whole development and pose too 

much investor risk. Another example, Hayward Estate, also in Northern California, has 158 units with six 

units at 80 percent. Again, they're also having to consider what to do with these six families with higher 

incomes in order to convert debt and move forward with investors. 

There are many examples of properties that are in preconstruction phase also that may not be able to 

move forward under this proposed regulation interpretation ranging from a 50 unit development in 

Virginia, a 50 unit development in Illinois, and 101 unit development in Iowa. All examples around the 

country. 

Ultimately, we are asking the IRS to adopt an alternative interpretation of the average income test that 

is more consistent with the existing set-asides and with the precedent in the housing credit program 

with a comparable level of risk. In our comment letter we recommended two potential interpretations 

as well as additional mitigation remedies including the ability to change unit designations in reasonable 

circumstances. 

We'd also urge the IRS to signal a willingness to consider a new approach even in advance of issuing 

further proposed regulations in order to lessen the destructions to the housing credit market and keep 



those sorely needed developments which were underwritten to use income averaging in good faith 

moving forward and their tenants in their homes. 

We thank you for the opportunity to testify here today and are happy to answer any questions, thank 

you. 

MR. KELLEY: Okay, thank you, Ms. Cadik and Mr. Gaber. Any questions from the panelists? That sounds 

like a no. So we'll move on to our next speaker who is Erica Etterling from the Virginia Housing 

Compliance and Asset Management. 

MS. ETTERLING: Good afternoon everyone, can you hear me? 

MR. KELLEY: Yeah. 

MS. ETTERLING: Awesome. My name is Erica Etterling. I am the Rental Compliance 

Support Manager at Virginia Housing, which is the allocating agency of tax credits. Thank you to the 

Internal Revenue Service and Treasury representatives for the opportunity to provide comments on the 

average income test proposed rule and its impact on the Virginia housing portfolio. 

This year I can officially say that I have been in the affordable housing industry for over 25 years. I 

started my career in the private sector, developing tax credit deals. I transitioned to managing those 

deals and the compliance and now I'm working for my second housing finance agency. 

Today my comments will cover the benefits of average income in Virginia, our agency guidance, the 

alternative mitigating action approach and feedback from existing properties using average income. 

In Virginia, average income was established and made available to project owners shortly after its 

release in 2018. And we realized several benefits of average income in our portfolio including increasing 

access to affordable units from 20 percent to 80 percent without using QAP incentives; preserving 

affordable units and minimizing the displacement of households with income between 60 and 80 

percent in existing properties; maintaining occupancy of existing residents for income changes and 

reasonable accommodation requests in ongoing property operations. And we can also maintain 

affordability in certain sites by waiving the qualified contract option and the extended use of 

amendments that occurred for projects that were allocated prior to 2018. 

Our partners were initially very cautious about using (inaudible) because it was mysterious and 

unknown, as I call it, and there was no guidance. We worked closely with our project partners early on in 

several sessions to collect their feedback and review project details. Our guidance was created to ease 

concerns and normalize the new minimum income set-aside option for compliance monitoring and in-

property operations. 

Our hard work paid off because to date we've had 74 housing credit properties confirm their intent to 

choose average income since 2018 using our guidance. To increase access to eligible individuals our 

average income procedures encourage 100 percent low-income units with income limitations averaging 

60 percent across the total. We do not limit the number of income limitations — and we have expressed 

concerns about moving forward with average income and are now requesting to choose another 

minimum set aside. 



The main concerns include: The inability to change unit designations, as we have told them that they 

could; the uncertainty with meeting both the IRS proposed AIT regulations; and our reg guidance; and 

the description of project failure is the projects exceed the 60 percent average. 

Project owners and property management agents have successfully managed qualified projects with 

federal and state income limitations for decades. Project minimum set aside violations are rare, in our 

portfolio, is almost non-existent. Minimum set aside violations resulting from one noncompliance 

finding for eligibility or physical conditions using 20/50 and 40/60 elections would be an exceptional 

case. 

The ability to redesignate a unit is essential for successful property operation when managing a site with 

multiple income limitations and we know it works. Project owners and management agents would likely 

redesignate a unit in the initial lease up phase to fill all units. 

And we do have an example where development partners were so certain and so sure their 70 percent 

units needed to be in a certain area of the site over their 30 percent units needed to be in another area 

of the site and all of that got turned upside down. 

To save lease compliant households with a loss of income discovered during the annual recertification, 

or by notification of the tenant to self-correct noncompliance discovered in the quality review of tenant 

file, to maintain or increase occupancy by approving eligible applicants instead of turning them away to 

meet reasonable accommodation requests if an existing tenant or eligible applicant is need of a unit 

with accessible features to meet a (inaudible) request and move an occupant to another location at the 

site. 

In all of these instances, the project owner should have the option to change the unit income limitation, 

higher or lower, as needed to lease or renew lease for units as long as the unit income limitation 

average 60 percent or less. And they have been doing that under 20/50 and 40/60 for some time now. 

In closing, project owners, their investment partners, and management agents rely upon an agency's 

written guidance. Open dialogue with our partners is essential to ensure allocated housing credit 

projects thrive and survive throughout the extended use period and they're meeting our state priority. 

As a compliance professional with over 25 years of experience, I have worn many hats. Each has given 

me a different perspective on program rules. If I have submitted comments on behalf of a project owner 

today, I would request that the final rule include the alternative mitigating action approach because it 

allows unit designation changes. 

I would have internal controls for my project owner and perform quality reviews of all tenant files and 

would want the ability to correct non-compliance and maintain occupancy in my site. AI would also work 

closely with the HFA partners to provide input on their average income guidance. 

But, instead, I work for the Virginia Housing and using that hat today, I review new requirements by 

considering all potential effects on the individuals and households we want to reach in the program and 

provide clear communication and expectations for managing our portfolios compliance. 

Average income works well in the Virginia Housing portfolio. Average income that's been used to 

maintain occupancy for existing households and expands the number of units available in Virginia's high 

cost areas. And you just have to look at the news for Amazon's new headquarters' location. 



Allocating agencies and project partners have adapted to the program's many changes over the last 30 

years, and we are ready and capable of doing the same for the average income test. 

Virginia Housing supports the comments presented by NCHA, who will speak a little bit later this 

afternoon and respectfully requests that the final average income test regulation include the alternative 

mitigating action approach to allow taxpayers to change the unit income limitation of the low-income 

unit, as needed, at any time during the extended use period. 

We are in favor of including the alternative mitigating action approach in the final rule because it closely 

matches the guidance we provided to our project partners for projects already in operation. 

Allowing unit designations to float may prevent an average income test failure by lowering the 60 

percent average, or maintaining the minimum 40 percent set aside which is how we interpret the rule 

for minimum set aside. 

It may also be used to meet all of compliance or reasonable accommodation requests for existing 

tenants if they experience a decrease in income and make low-income units available and accessible to 

new tenants at all income levels as the local economic market changes over the life of the extended use 

period. 

We also request that the final rule provide guidance and a safe harbor for current projects using AIT. The 

proposed regulation, as written, may result in noncompliance and existing projects which structure and 

leased up their site using Virginia Housing guidance. Our project owners are very concerned and may 

not choose average income in the future using the proposed rule. 

Thank you for your time this afternoon and your consideration. 

MR. KELLEY: Thank you, Ms. Etterling. Any questions from our panelists? 

MR. TAYLOR: Hi, my name is Dillon Taylor. Thank you for testifying today. I think I heard you say that you 

recommend that the regulations adopt the alternative mitigation approach that was proposed in the 

preemptive (inaudible) phase, is that clear? 

MS. ETTERLING: Yes, that is correct. 

MR. TAYLOR: Would that be adopting that approach in addition to allowing general unit floating, or is 

that in lieu of dwelling general unit floating and redesignation? 

MS. ETTERLING: I read the alternative mitigating action approach to allow floating. That's how I read and 

interpreted that. 

MR. TAYLOR: Yeah. 

MS. ETTERLING: That would allow redesignation of units. 

MR. TAYLOR: Okay, thank you very much. 

MS. ETTERLING: Thank you. 

MR. KELLEY: Do you have any other questions? 



MR. NOVEY: You mentioned (inaudible), is that available on your website? And, if so, can you let us 

know what the UR alternate is? 

MS. ETTERLING: Yes, I certainly will. Where do I send it? 

MR. NOVEY: (Inaudible) complies with the fact that the comment period is over, that the two comments 

on The (inaudible) to get through. But if you can, in the course of the testimony, you could tell us what 

that UR is, I think that would (inaudible). 

MS. ETTERLING: I can do that. I am doing that right now, thank you. 

MR. NOVEY: Chris, am I interpreting the rules right, you're the moderator right now? 

MR. KELLEY: (Laughter) I'm the moderator. I don't know if that means (inaudible). However, I think the 

regulations on the website no longer (inaudible). 

MR. NOVEY: I think that if URL is (inaudible) in the course of the testimony that 

(inaudible). If Ms. Hess (phonetic) doesn't mind — Etterling — pardon me — doesn't mind sending it to 

us slowly enough for us to copy it down accurately probably makes it more formal. 

MS. ESTTERLING: I certainly can.Can I start now? 

MR. NOVEY: Yes, ma'am. 

MS. ETTERLING: It is https: //www.vhda.com. 

MR. NOVEY: Slow, slow down, w, as in w.w.w, dot? 

MS. ETTERLING: — vhda.com. 

MR. NOVEY: Vhda.com. 

MS. ETTERLING: Forward slash. 

MR. NOVEY: Yep. 

MS. ETTERLING: Business partners, all together, no spaces, all together, forward slash, property owners 

managers, all together, three words. 

MR. NOVEY: Yep. 

MS. ETTERLING: Forward slash. 

MR. NOVEY: Yep. 

MS. ETTERLING: Lihtc compliant. 

MR. NOVEY: All one word, right? 

MS ETTERLING: All one word, all together, no spaces. 

MR. NOVEY: Yep. 

MS. ETTERLING: Forward slash, pages. 



MR. NOVEY: Yep. 

MS. ETTERLING: Forward slash, lihtc compliant. 

MR. NOVEY: I believe that's two lihtc compliant is in there? 

MS. ETTERLING: Yeah, so there is lihtc compliant, and then there is a slash, and then pages, and then a 

slash lihtc compliance again, which ends it, and then there is a .astx. 

MR. NOVEY: Dot, a, as in apple? 

MS. ETTERLING: A, as in apple; S, as in Sam; P, as in purple; X, as in xylophone. 

MR. NOVEY: Got it, this was quite a URL. 

(Laughter). 

MS. ETTERLING: It is and if I had not given you that link, you likely would not have been able to find it. 

But I'm not bragging there, we're working on it. (Laughter). We're going through a rebrand. So if you had 

asked me in June, maybe it would have been a little bit easier and a lot shorter. 

MR. NOVEY: Okay. Well, thank you so much for providing that. And thank you for taking the time to help 

us out during this hearing. 

MS. ETTERLING: Thank you. Have a wonderful day. 

MR. HOVEY: Thank you. 

MR. KELLEY: Okay. Thanks, Ms. Etterling. We did mention taking a 10 minute break around 1:30, and I 

have got 1:30 inspiration. We need to give everyone a little bit of time walk around and come back at 

1:43, does that work? 

MR. NOVEY: Chris, I think that's a good idea. The one thing that I would suggest is that since I don't want 

us or the speakers to be feeling rushed at the end, maybe we could schedule another 10 minute break 

at 3 or so, so that it's not a case of people squirming in their chairs and saying, why doesn't that person 

finish talking? 

MR. KELLEY: Okay. You'd like to do a 10 minute break now and another break at three? 

MR. NOVEY: Or maybe a five minute break at three? I mean I'm trying to be — I'm trying to make sure 

the people who are testifying at the end have the same level of focused attention from the panel and 

from the outside public, as (inaudible) beginning. 

MR. KELLEY: Let's go ahead and do 10 minutes now and five minutes at 3, that work? 

MR. NOVEY: The question is what everybody else thinks. Dillon and James, what do you guys think? 

PARTICIPANT: Sounds good to me. 

PARTICIPANT: That's fine. 



MR. KEELEY: Okay, good. I've got 1:34. Let's reconvene at 1:44. And we'll go on until 3 o'clock for 

another break. Okay? When we come back at 1:44, we have got Ms. (inaudible) Kruger of the 

Association of Washington Housing Authorities. Talk to everyone in 10 minutes. 

MR. NOVEY: Thanks. 

(Recess) 

MR. KELLEY: Okay, great, and we're back. Let's go ahead and pick up where we left off, which is with Mr. 

Lowel Krueger, of the Association of Washington Housing Authorities, when you're ready. 

MR. KRUEGER: Thank you. Good afternoon, everyone. My name is Lowel Krueger, and I am the Past 

President of the Association of Washington Housing Authories, also known as AWA. 

AWA is a member organization made up of 37 Housing Authorities across Washington State. AWA 

members build homes and run a variety of programs that support Washington working families, 

children, seniors, veterans, and people with disabilities, serving over 173,000 people every night. Over 

the past 10 years, AWA members have utilized the Low-Income Housing Tax Credits and Washington 

State's Bond Capped produced over 8,000 units. 

This afternoon, we have two primary issues that we'd like to address, with regards to the proposed rule. 

The first is the requirement that projects electing to use the average income test are required to 

maintain an average of 60 percent of varied median gross income across all units. Under the proposed 

rule, a project is required to average no more than 60 percent of varied median income across all 

income units, as a primary condition of meeting the AIT minimum satisfied. A particular concern to AWA 

is the possibility that even a single over-income unit or other event of noncompliance affecting a single 

unit within a project could result in a complete loss of annual credits for the project, as a whole. 

Further, if this event of noncompliance crossed calendar years, it would result in a cascaded loss of two 

years for the entire project. As a result, the proposed rule effectively establishes a cliff test for the 

minimum set aside requirement, threatening the most severe consequences on a project for even an 

isolated instance of noncompliance. As proposed, this cliff test is more restrictive than the statute, 

which only requires that 40 percent of the units in a project be rent restricted and occupied by 

individuals who income do not exceed the imputed income limitations. 

As a result, the proposed rule is not consistent with the compliance treatment of the other two set aside 

options, either the 40-60 or the 20-50. In the event of noncompliance under these set asides, if the 

project meets the minimum, a single issue of noncompliance would not jeopardize the credits of the 

entire project, but rather only the units found out of compliance. 

We believe that this section of the proposed rule is not consistent with the intent of Congress, when it 

passed the 2018 Consolidated Appropriations Act, as it provides less flexibility and increases overall 

financial risk, given the significant negative implications of failing the cliff test. We believe that investors 

will be more risk adverse when investing in project using AIT. As a result, this could lead to reduced 

investor interest, lower tax credit pricing, and or requirements that projects be underwritten to a lower 

average AMGI, resulting in the need for additional debt or public resources. 

We acknowledge that the proposed rule does allow for a 60-day cure period, following the end of the 

calendar year. However, this assumes that the State Housing Finance Agency has completed their review 



and the noncompliance has been identified within the period, when in practice this does not occur. To 

address the issues related to the cliff test, we urge the agencies to amend the proposed rule to align 

with requirements of projects, say, like the 40-60 or 20-50 set asides. 

I stated earlier, we believe that this is the intent of Congress and this change would enhance rather than 

impair the Tax Credit Program. 

We have a couple examples of our members. In a recent deal for one of our members, the investor 

required that their rents be underwritten to 53 percent of AMI, rather than the 60 percent of AMI 

because income averaging was elected. This resulted in the reduction of permanent debt the project 

could carry and an increase in other sources of funds. 

In addition, we have also heard that some investors are required and increasing in reserves or a new 

reserve to be set up, in the event the project elects to income average. This is to provide extra 

protection in the event of recapture. This used to occur in the Tax Credit Program, when public housing 

was included in projects. Investors would require an affordability reserve, which was intended to cover 

any shortfall in Federal funding for the public housing units. 

Our second issue is that the proposed rule requires projects that elect the average income test to 

designate the imputed income limits on individual units. The proposed rule also prohibits any changes to 

the designated imputed income limitation of individual units once the initial designation is made. We 

believe that this part of the proposed rule significantly impairs the implementation of AIT, and again is 

not what Congress intended when they passed the act. Further, we believe that this section of the 

proposed rule creates possible conflicts with the Fair Housing Act and the Violence Against Women Act. 

Currently, Section 42 does not include any prohibitions on modifying income designations, and the 

statute and prior rules have left this to the Housing Finance Agencies to design and implement. 

In addition, it was not Congress's intent to place this restriction on the new set aside, as the act further 

modified the next available unit rule, in Section 42G-2D, with the expectation that, at least in projects 

that have market rate units, an order would need to be able to change income designations to address 

over income tenants. We also believe that in certain circumstances the proposed rule may conflict with 

the Fair Housing Act. 

For example, this restriction could prevent an owner from making a reasonable accommodation upon 

request of a tenant with disability, if that accommodation will require relocating tenant into units with 

different income designations. This creates an issue, as the Fair Housing Act makes it unlawful for any 

person to refuse to make reasonable accommodations and rules, policies, practices, or services, when 

such accommodation may be necessary to afford persons with disabilities equal opportunity to use and 

enjoy a dwelling. 

For similar reasons, this proposed rule would conflict with — would create conflict with the Violence 

Against Women Act, as an owner may not be able to accommodate an emergency transfer request, if 

they are unable to switch unit designations. Since the reauthorization of AWA in 2013, Housing Credit 

has been a covered program for the purposes of the law. 

We urge the agencies to revise the proposed rule to allow for changes in the designation of imputed 

income limits and eliminate the cliff test requirements. If the proposed rule is implemented as written, 



we believe the — that the agency should provide owners, that have already elected the AIT set aside, an 

opportunity to modify their set aside election. 

We thank the agencies for the opportunity to comment on the proposed rule and urge you to consider 

these changes to better reflect the intent of Congress and approve the Credit Program. Thank you, and 

I'm available for any questions. 

MR. KELLEY: Okay. Thank you, Mr. Krueger. Any questions from the panel? 

MR. NOVEY: Just in terms of your request of — regarding people that have already relied on what they 

thought was going to be the rules, we've proposed that the final rules would be effective for taxable 

years after the final rule is published. You just mentioned the possibility that people might want to back 

out and make a redesignation or may whatnot, but that the elected set aside, if the rule is highly 

problematic for them, which would be, I would think, tremendously disruptive and also quite contrary to 

what the Section 42 pushes. Would your needs be met if the final rule were applicable to buildings and 

projects that received allocations after finalization, rather than taxable years beginning after finalization, 

so that people who got their allocations back under a different expectation, they might not have any 

certainty about what the rule was, but at least they would know that it's not the final reg? 

MR. KRUEGER: That's a good question. I don't know that I can say for absolute surety that that right 

there would resolve the issue, and I certainly understand and would agree with you the disruption that 

would take place with regards to changing the designation, at this point. I think clarity, to the extent that 

the Revenue Service could, with regards to the implementation of the final rule and how that would be 

interpreted for developments prior to it, any clarity would be helpful, I think, because it's not just the 

organization itself where there would be a Housing Authority, a nonprofit, a for-profit developer. It's 

also the investor, the Housing Finance Agency over Compliance. We all need to be on the same page, as 

to how to interpret, if you will, that — the period in between when the statute was enacted versus 

when the rule become — the regulation becomes final. 

MR. KELLEY: Mike, anything else? 

MR. NOVEY: I had automatically taken myself to mute. I apologize. I can see how it would be, in an ideal 

world, something where, if our final rule is not fully to what you and many others have requested, that 

we would create a secondary complete, absolutely clear, temporary rule for people who had committed 

to average income testing, between statutory enactment and final rule. Nothing is impossible, but that 

is — the creation of two complete sets of rules would be, let's say, anomalous for us, given the other 

things that we're doing. A more common practice might be that the final rule has an effective date, 

which leaves unharmed anybody who had committed to something prior to the final rule being done, 

and then indicate that — I think what we often say is any reasonable method or any reasonable result, 

which is utterly nonclear. 

On the other hand, it does protect people who, in almost all cases, have done something reasonable, 

than just trying to get, you know, to take your temperature on the idea of some form of nonspecific 

protection for people, again, if we don't do what you all want for the final, some sort of nonspecific 

protection for people that have already acted, rather than forcing them to completely undo their set 

aside commitment (inaudible) respect to the more tolerable and more workable than saying, well, we 



won't be able to read you everything because the final rule is not what we like and what we can work 

with. 

MR. KRUEGER: And I appreciate that, and I think — I think that that certainly is a — would be a 

possibility. To give a little context, with regards to this, I think Ms. Donahue alluded to, at least in the 

State of Washington, many of the requests to utilize AIT came from Housing Authorities, and those 

requests have to do with the repositioning of much of our public housing portfolio, utilizing a program 

that had — has provided, called the Rental Assistance Demonstration Program, and marrying that with 

the four percent Tax Credit Program, where we have a portfolio of properties that already have 

individuals that have exceeded the 60 percent income, that typically aren't — exceed 80 percent of 

varied median income, and so, when those requests went in, that would certainly — eliminated or 

reduced displacement of those individuals and those families. So, I think whatever the Internal Revenue 

Service proposes that would allow for those developments to continue or to hold the harmless, in some 

way shape or form, would be helpful. 

MR. NOVEY: How much difficulty do you guys experience with the absence of average income, in 146? 

MR. KRUEGER: I'm not sure I understand the question. Can you state that another way? 

MR. NOVEY: Okay, am I misremembering, or has Congress added average income to the DOC Program? I 

am quite capable of having misremembered, but I'm asking the IRS folks who will know the answer. 

MR. KELLEY: In proposed, in some legislation, but not added, not yet at least. 

MR. NOVEY: Yeah, that was my impression. So, the LI Checks that are derived from being financed with 

private activity bonds, unless and until Congress acts, would not be able to use average income (audio 

skip). 

MR. KRUEGER: That is correct, but there's been two programs that have been utilized with regards to — 

for that, and I apologize if I got — if I've been misquoted, or misstated, or — in some way shape or form, 

one, obviously, the nine percent, with regards to the average income, AIG, and the other one is at four 

percent. Both have been utilized by Washington State Housing Authorities to reposition their portfolios. 

MR. NOVEY: I see. So, you were describing things that were going on and were very good in — 

MR. KRUEGER: Yes. 

MR. NOVEY: — in the same space that we're talking about, the programs or projects that were not using 

averaged income. Sorry, I misunderstood. 

MR. KRUEGER: Yes.Okay. 

MR. NOVEY: Again, and the possibilities that I was referring to are clearly not something I'm saying 

would happen or that I would have the ability to make happen. I was, however, describing what we have 

sometimes done, in other regulations, in other contexts, and trying to get your reaction to how things 

would be if we were to do something similar in this context. 

MR. KRUEGER: Thank you, I appreciate 

that, and I certainly appreciate, as I indicated, whatever the Internal Revenue Service could do to help 

hold harmless those that have taken action at this point. 



MR. NOVEY: Thank you. Chris and gang, do you guys want to add something? 

MR. KELLEY: Nothing from me. 

MR. NOVEY: Okay. 

SPEAKER: I'm fine for right now. I think we can move on. 

MR. KELLEY: Okay. Mr. Krueger, thank you. Let's move onto James Tassos, from the National Council of 

State Housing Agencies. 

MR. TASSOS: Thank you and good afternoon. My name is Jim Tassos, and I'm the Director of Tax Policy 

for the National Council of State Housing Agencies. NCSHA represents the agencies that administer the 

Housing Credit in all 50 states and U.S. Territories, and we appreciate the longstanding partnership 

between IRS and the state agencies, in administration of the program, and the opportunity to provide 

comments today on the average income test regulation. 

As you know, NCSHA worked closely with Congressional sponsors of the AIT legislation to develop the 

concept and to draft the language enacting it. In doing so, we hope to accomplish four outcomes: first, 

broadening the reach of the Housing Credit to more low-income households, second, making properties 

more affordable to households that do not receive rental assistance, third, strengthening the credit as a 

preservation tool, and finally, allowing the financial feasibility of more rural development. 

We believe the proposed rule goes beyond what is required in the Tax Code to maintain property 

average incomes at 60 percent or less. 

In addition, the rule makes practical implementation of the AIT next to impossible, especially for 

properties financed with multiple subsidies. It also creates conflicts with Federal laws, such as the Fair 

Housing Act, the Violence Against Women Act, and the Section 504. We hope that IRS guidance would 

create a greater level of comfort in the average income test for investors and other stakeholders, 

allowing the new minimum set aside to achieve the four goals I just outlined. Unfortunately, the 

proposed rule is having the opposite effect, chilling development of the AIT properties across the 

country. 

In this statement, I will summarize NCSHA's major concerns with the proposed rule, as well as our 

recommended changes. We support the testimony of the allocating agency representatives on today's 

panel, especially their views on the administrative complexities in the rule. We also appreciate the 

perspectives of the developers, syndicators, investors, and tax professionals on the panel today, who 

will describe the industry's practical concerns in more detail. 

NCSHA's first major concern in the proposed regulation is the AIT minimum set aside standard, which 

requires all low-income units in the project to average no more than 60 percent of the compliant unit 

could result in a violation of a minimum set aside if the loss of that unit causes the overall average to go 

above 60 percent. And NCSHA believes that violation of the average income test should be considered 

noncompliant of the individual units in question, not a violation of the minimum set aside unless the 

noncompliance is so extreme that fewer than 40 percent of the units meet a 60 percent average. We 

believe this interpretation is consistent with a literal reading of the Tax Code and Congressional intent. 

We also think it provides sufficient penalty for noncompliance without causing excessive and 

unnecessary risk that will negate investor interest in electing the average income test. 



I'll discuss our rationale for this recommendation next. First, NCSHA believes that treatment of the 

average income test in the proposed rule is inconsistent with the other two minimum set aside options. 

If a development elects the 40/60 set aside for example, if one unit is out of compliance, the project 

does not fail the minimum set aside as long as 40 percent of the units in the project remain in 

compliance. Under the proposed rule a single unit out of compliance in an AIT property could jeopardize 

the minimum set aside even if 40 percent of the long income units still maintain the 60 percent average. 

The proposed rule offers two mitigating actions that a taxpayer could take to prevent a minimum set 

aside violation. Converting one or more market rate units to low-income units or removing a unit from 

the credit calculation. There are practical limitations to both options, and regardless of which option an 

owner chooses, the proposed rule provides up to 60 days after the end of the calendar year to take a 

mitigating action to avoid the loss of credits. 

We appreciate the attempt to provide this safe harbor. However, it unfortunately does not offset the 

risk of investing in the AIT property. And as others have mentioned, owners will often not know there's a 

violation of the average until well after the proposed mitigation period is over. 

NCSHA believes the excessive risk the proposed rule creates will significantly reduce investor and 

developer interest in AIT properties. And you will hear from some of these investors and developers 

directly today. 

Our second major concern with the proposed rule is the inability to modify unit designations. This 

proposed policy is inconsistent with Section 42 and other IRS housing credit guidance and makes 

practical implementation of the rule next to impossible. 

In particular, it creates conflicts between the credit and HUD and USDA housing programs which would 

prevent the combined use of these up-scales. It also prevents significant conflicts with the Fair Housing 

Act, Section 504, and the Violence Against Women Act. NCSHA strongly believes that IRS should allow 

owners to modify unit designations as long as the applicable state agency approves the changes. IRS 

should consider allowing changes in unit designations as a mitigating action to correct noncompliance. 

Indeed, it's the most important mitigating action the IRS could allow. 

Section 42 did not prohibit modifications of income designation and there's no indication that Congress 

intended to do so with average income test. The AIT legislation modified the next available unit rule 

with the expectation that the owner would need to modify income designations to address over-income 

tenants. The rule also modified the existing IRS regulations on the next available unit rule. However, the 

proposed changes to these regulations contradict the AIT rules as one allows for modification of income 

designations while the other prohibits them. 

The proposed rule is also at odds with IRS Revenue Procedure 2004-82, which establishes a low-income 

qualified status of the unit moves with the qualified household if the household transfers from one unit 

to another. In contrast, the average income test rule would require more rigorous unit designations and 

provide less flexibility for unit transfers than allowed in other housing credit properties. 

In addition to inconsistencies with the housing credit statutes in IRS rules, the proposed rule also 

conflicts with the Fair Housing Act as the property owner may not be able to approve a reasonable 

accommodation request if they're unable to modify these designations. Similarly, the rule conflicts with 



Section 504 accessibility requirements and state laws that provide accessibility protections for persons 

with disabilities by limiting the ability to allow transfers required under Section 504. 

The rule also conflicts with VALA provision that victims of domestic violence may request an emergency 

transfer to a different unit or property if they believe there is threat of imminent harm that they remain 

in their unit. A property owner may not be able to accommodate an emergency transfer request if they 

are unable to modify unit designations. And not adhering to VALA at a property is also a Fair Housing Act 

violation. 

The inability to modify unit designations presents conflicts with other Federal housing programs as well. 

For more than 30 years Congress and the IRS have made great efforts to allow the combination of other 

Federal programs with the credit. And according to NCSHA data, more than 80 to 100 percent housing 

credit units annually are financed with other Federal sources of financing. The average income test 

proposed rule would create significant challenges for housing credit properties financed with other 

Federal subsidies, making combining these subsidies impractical. 

Nearly every other major Federal housing program, including public housing, section 8, HUD, the 

Housing Trust Fund, and USDA's rural development programs have statutory or programmatic rules that 

require or allow floating of the units or modification of income designations. The fixed unit designation 

in the proposed rule would therefore make use of the AIT minimum set aside impossible in the majority 

of housing credit properties. 

One of the primary benefits of average income test is the ability to align the credit with other programs 

to make it a better tool for preserving federally subsidized housing. And in theory, average income tests 

would allow the credit to be used for preservation while significantly limiting the displacement of 

existing households with incomes between 60 and 80 percent of AMI. The proposed rule, by barring unit 

designation modifications, makes preservation of these properties using AIT impractical. 

Finally, the proposed rule also conflicts with existing state policies. As you've heard from state agencies 

already on today's panel, the HFAs have decades of experience allowing units to float while enforcing 

developer commitments for units in various income tiers. Long before the AIT became law, many states 

promoted income tiering and developed software programs to allow effective tracking of floating units. 

When the AIT was enacted into law nearly three years ago, it became an eligible set of buy option 

immediately. In advance of IRS guidance most state agencies established their own AIT policies, and to 

our knowledge not a single agency prohibited redesignation of units. 

As IRS considers mitigating actions to help owners maintain the property average, it should consider unit 

designation modifications as the most important tool to achieve this. 

In conclusion, giving the breadth of our suggested changes to this rule, we respectfully urge IRS to 

consider developing a new proposed rule to allow a second round of stakeholder comments. And if IRS 

chooses to finalize the regulation without the changes we have proposed, we suggest that owners of 

existing AIT properties be provided an opportunity and a reasonable period to choose a different 

minimum set aside and that existing residents be grandfathered without a reduction in qualified basis. 

The NCSHA greatly appreciates your consideration of our comments as you work to finalize this 

important program guidance. We look forward to continuing the strong partnership between IRS and 

the state agencies in administration of housing credit. Thank you very much. 



MR. KELLEY: Thank you, Mr. Tassos. Any questions from the panel? 

MR. TAYLOR: Hi, Mr. Tassos. I have a quick question that hopefully Mr. Tassos can answer quickly and 

then we can go on to some other things. 

You mentioned that the state invoked the floating and redesignation of units. Could you maybe speak 

another minute or so about that, just why it might not be administratively difficult or burdensome or 

novel to track unit redesignations for state agencies? 

MR. TASSOS: Of course. So as you know, the statute for the housing credit requires states to give a 

priority in allocating credit to low-income units. So even though developers would often select one of 

the minimum set asides 20 at 

50 or 40 at 60, the state has a lot of experience with much lower income units, you know, 40, 30, even 

20 percent of medium income because it's what's required by the Tax Code. They have to prioritize 

those lower income units. 

So they needed to develop mechanism decades ago to be able to track those units, to be able to track 

the lower income designations. So this isn't just a minimum set aside, it's the ability to track whatever 

unit designations the owners had agreed to in their original application for these projects. 

In some cases they have their own software, in other cases they've worked with outside companies and 

purchased software that can track this for them for monitoring purposes. 

MR. TAYLOR: Thank you. And in your experience, I know this is not always available, most if not all of the 

states are doing this? 

MR. TASSOS: You've got a number of very smart states people on the call today that can probably give 

you a little better input on how they work with their software programs though. 

MR. TAYLOR: Thank you. 

MR. HOLMES: Hey, Jim, this is James Holmes. I wanted to ask kind of the same question that Mike Novey 

has asked, a couple of the other people, in terms of I think your proposal is a 40/60 minimum set aside 

test, but when there are additional units and we have one unit that's out of compliance kind of thing 

that would push the overall average above 60 percent. I was wondering if you had an opinion in terms of 

qualified basis determination. 

MR. TASSOS: Well our opinion would be that you should allow owners to redesignate units to bring the 

average back under 60 percent. You know, similar to other minimum set asides, if you have a property 

that has a unit that goes out of compliance, as long as you're still meeting the minimum set aside, the 

property still can generate credits. You just don't get to take credits on the unit that's out of compliance. 

And that's what we would propose. Allow an owner to redesignate a unit to bring the property average 

into compliance. If they have a unit that still isn't meeting the unit designation that they've promised, 

then that unit can't take credit. And that's in some ways a separate issue. It's a noncompliance issue but 

it's not a failure of the minimum set aside that requires the entire property to lose its credits. 

MR. HOLMES: And I think Mike might know these questions, was assuming that the minimum set aside 

test was met and just asking about any impact on the building's ability to include all of the other units in 



qualified basis if the average is over 60 percent. So I think what you're saying is you would think allowing 

redesignation would help with that problem? If it didn't, then you might be stuck with — my question is 

would you be stuck with just taking the one unit, or would you have to take another unit out to get back 

to 60? I think that was a view that Brian Coffee I think stated. 

MR. TASSOS: I think it would be different if, you know, they extended the noncompliance. In some cases 

you may have one unit that could bring the property back into compliance, and others, particularly the 

smaller rural deals where, you know, it's going to be very difficult to maintain that average if you've got 

one unit going out of compliance and you've got a 12 unit building. It's going to be really difficult to do 

that. 

And that's part of the reason why we really feel it's important to allow the redesignation of the units. If 

you've got a small rural deal the owners of those properties are going to need to be able to redesignate 

a unit. And there are so many reasons that we've all talked about why you need to allow this 

redesignation. If you allow that then they can bring the property average back into compliance, back 

into the 60 percent average. And then if they still have a unit that's not meeting the designation that 

they've promised, then that unit doesn't get to take credit. But it doesn't mean the property's failed the 

minimum set aside. 

That's a really important point that I'm hoping we are making clear today. 

MR. HOLMES: I think we're clear on the point that you're making about the minimum set aside test. 

Yeah. And I think kind of the next question that Mike was asking was, if the minimum set aside test was, 

you just have to figure out, you know, 40 percent of the units, average of 60 percent and what would 

that carry over to when you're figuring out qualified basis and you have a situation where one of your 

lower income units is out of compliance. And I mean I think from what you're saying, your first 

recommendation would be allow redesignation and let them kind of self-help. 

But I guess the question was really do you think that the units that weren't used to satisfy the minimum 

set aside test, those additional units, should they have the average to 60 percent or what do you think 

otherwise? 

MR. TASSOS: We think you should treat these units the same way you treat noncompliant units in the 

other minimum set asides. So the state agencies have rules. We would suggest that the state, you know, 

should be involved if there is a redesignation, the state needs to be aware of that. And there should be a 

reasonable correction period which should be longer than 60 days after the end of the calendar year 

that the noncompliance occurred. 

And then if there's a finding of noncompliance the states would report that on Form 8823. It's up to the 

IRS to determine if that results in a recapture of credits. But, you know, we need that policy in place that 

the states can monitor, that developers can manage, and that is clear to the IRS if there are units that 

need to be taken out, you know, from a credit claiming perspective. 

We'd like to make it so that you can follow the same rules as you do for the other minimum set asides. 

And I'm not sure that there's really a difference here between the average income test and the way that 

you ask the states to report noncompliance in the other minimum set aside. 



MR. NOVEY: I'm not sure that you're confronting the problem that is really inherent to the average 

income test for those, let's call it the non-set aside units. And that is, if your requirement for the non-set 

aside units is that they satisfy essentially the same test that is being imposed on the set aside units, then 

that's a group criteria, not an individual unit criteria. And the failure of Unit A which causes the group to 

be noncompliant hasn't changed anything about all of the units in the group so there are no units in that 

group that are individually noncompliant. But the departure of that one or more low-income, low 

designation units has caused the group as a whole to have a problem. And to simply say well, limit the 

exclusion from qualified basis to the noncompliant units, the remaining units are not noncompliant. 

And so the question then is if Congress has given us a group test for the set aside and if as I think you 

and several of the other witnesses have indicated, analogues criterion should apply to the group of low-

income units that are not in the set aside, then there is the issue of how to deal with a group failure, no 

one unit of which is responsible for. And one of the proposals is to simply allow a redesignation of the 

income criteria which is not keyed to a tenant as in VALA or ADA or any of the other, as many people 

have pointed out, notorious reasons for allowing redesignation. But there's a suggestion that there 

should be redesignation for purposes of bringing the group into compliance with the average. 

But let's suppose that, you know, take some of the examples that we've been dealing with in the written 

testimony that's come in. Let's suppose you've got a building, I realize this may not be a typical situation, 

but we need to write rules that are more comprehensive than the typical. Let's say you've got a building 

which on the whole is matching 20s and 80s, one 20 for two 80s. And so one 20 drops out, you're saying 

then there ought to be a redesignation of the one or more 80s. But those 80s may be occupied by 

people whose incomes have increased above 80 percent of the AMI but they're not yet into the next 

available unit space. But it would be even through 50, in order to accommodate the loss of the 20. Then 

all of a sudden you have a tenant who is hugely over-incomed for the unit. You also — I mean, the 

tenant is not going to object if their rent drops from 30 percent of 80 of AMI to 30 percent of 50 of AMI. 

The tenant's happy with that. But I'm not sure that a completely robust redesignation regime would in 

fact be as effective in fixing the fact that there is a group failing rather than an individual unit failing. 

Right (inaudible). 

MR. TASSOS: You know, what I'll say is that the code requires that each unit has to comply with its 

designation. So, you've got to comply with your designation. If the IRS would allow a redesignation of 

unit, that's going to help maintain the 60 percent average in these properties a lot easier. And I think 

we've got decades of experience with this program, of people trying to do the right thing, trying to keep 

properties in compliance. 

You know, we've got a good partnership where the state agencies monitor this and report it to the IRS. 

Developers, for the most part, are doing a very good job of trying to keep properties in compliance. And 

I think the IRS knows that you're not seeing high instances of noncompliance in this program. We hope 

that that continues even in average income test fields (phonetic). But we need to give rules that allow 

people to keep their properties in compliance. 

MR. NOVEY: Agree in that — 

MR. TASSOS: It's — 

MR. NOVEY: Agree that's — 



MR. TASSOS: Yes, sir. 

MR. NOVEY: — necessary. Are you saying that you would be happy with the person who is now at an 

income level which is basically at Area Median Income, residing in an 80 percent unit, that it would be 

fine if their rent, at least for a while, dropped to 30 percent of the 50 percent; so basically, they're now 

paying 15 percent of their income toward rent, rather than 30? Is that a result which is tolerable in order 

to protect the building? 

MR. TASSOS: I think as a temporary measure, yes. And, you know, the owner of that property may figure 

out ways that they're able to transfer a tenant at some point, when another unit becomes available. This 

is all going to be subject to other restrictions. If there's a VALA or Fair Housing issue that restricts one of 

those movements, then, you know — 

MR. NOVEY: AMI — you guys have made the point that we — 

MR. TASSOS: Okay. 

MR. NOVEY: — need to address redesignations this (inaudible). I won't say you made it and we're going 

to do. But simply, we understand the case that has been made very effectively for accommodating all of 

the, let's call them tenant-based reasons, for redesignation, many of which are legally required, and 

some others of which may simply be the result of maybe necessitated by good building management. 

So, that case has been — articulated clearly, and we understand it. 

The question here is whether or not a designation for purposes of qualifying the non-set-aside units are 

desirable. In other words, you might get a situation where the, if the unit was temporarily taken out of 

80 and it's down to 50, and then a new tenant comes in at 50, you're not going to hit them with an 

increase up to 80, I assume. 

And, you know, are you — even if it's the same old tenant, are you going to yo-yo them, where their 

rent goes down until you get the 20 percent units back online, and at that point their rent pops up 

again? Obviously, you can tell them, "this is a short-term benefit and don't expect it to last." But folks, 

very often, once they enjoy the short-term benefit, are very loath to see it disappear. 

MR. TASSOS: Understood. You know, and I would encourage you to revisit this question with some of 

the folks that work on the development side, and in compliance, and some of the state agencies that 

actually see these on a day-to-day basis. 

MR. KELLEY: Okay. So, are we ready to move on? Mike, do you have more? 

MR. NOVEY: No, I'm, I just was, you know, trying to make the point that redesignation is not a cure-all. 

That it may fix a bunch of things, but what we — what it doesn't do is deal with the situation that what 

we have is not a noncompliant unit; we have a noncompliant bunch of units. And we — 

MR. TASSOS: You still have, you would still have at least 40 percent of the units meeting the 60 percent 

average. 

MR. NOVEY: Every — nope, nope. That's what was the premise of the discussion. The question that I 

imposed, and that James said probably more clearly than I had is, in a situation where you have a 40 

percent set aside that are absolutely golden in terms of their compliance, it is likely that there will be 

some sort of income limitation which is applicable for, let's call them the non-set-aside population. And 



we are requiring of them a group criterion rather than an individual unit criterion. And the 20/50 and 

the 40/60. That's a unit requirement. And so, you can look at the bad unit and say, zap, you're out of 

here. 

If you're talking about failing a group criterion, none of the remaining units are problematic. The group, 

however, as a group, is not compliant. And therefore, a strict analogy of what goes on in 20/50 and 

40/60 may not fit. 

MR. TASSOS: Right. You know, I think the testimony that Wendy Quackenbush gave earlier was good on 

this point, where she talked about the policies they have in place in Texas. They're going to have written 

policies about what they allow and what they don't allow. And if an owner's following those policies 

then they would approve it. But they wouldn't have to seek approval for every single unit designation 

change. There could be other states that want to do that, and I think having some flexibility in the final 

rule would be important in that regard. 

MR. NOVEY: And you believe that a redesignation with the consequent impact on the rent received and 

on the tenant eligibility, possibly throwing the tenant into posture where you need to invoke the empty-

out-the-unit (phonetic) rule, that that is the best way of dealing with the group failure? 

MR. TASSOS: I guess maybe I'm struggling with what you're classifying as a group failure. We've 

mentioned them on set asides. You're talking about a unit that's out of compliance in the non-set-aside. 

MR. NOVEY: No, I'm not talking about a unit that is out of compliance. 

MR. TASSOS: Okay. 

MR. NOVEY: I apologize for interrupting, but in the interest of time. It was my understanding that you 

and some of the other witnesses had said that there are income limitations that are applicable not only 

to your set aside units, but also to the non-set-aside population. So, in other words the — it's, to make 

life simple, let's assume we have a hundred-unit building. Forty of those units average income at 60 

percent of AMI. We've now got 60 remaining units. And the statement which I heard from, at least I 

thought I heard from a number of witnesses, is that those remaining units, at least the low-income units 

among them, (inaudible) part to reflect the criterion that is applied in the set aside. 

So that if we had 60 units that were — well, maybe, let's say that we had 50 units, and 10 market rates 

in there, but they're taking up enough so that you can't use them by moving them there. The non-set-

aside low-income units would also have to have some income requirements that they meet. And the 

suggestion is that the income requirements that the non-set-aside units would meet would be a 

reflection of the requirement that is applied to the set aside. And so, what we then have is we have 60 

units which are — where were going along and they were averaging the 60. They're not — something 

happens to one or more of those units which had had low designations. With the result that the 

remaining non-set-aside units were above 60 percent AMI, in average. 

Now, one thing you can say is, everybody's got the right designation. It doesn't matter whether or not 

the unit actually is a current low-income unit, we can use that designation when we get to a good 

average. Others have suggested that the population of non-set-aside low-income units are, to itself, 

have an average designation, which is also no more than 60 percent of the AMI. At that point, the group 



of units has got too high an average. But that failure is not the fault of any particular unit; the failure is 

because you pulled one of the low designation units out of the group. 

That's what I meant by saying it was a group failure, and you can't point to any of the remaining low-

income units, saying this is the one that is guilty of causing us to flunk. But all of them were possibly 

good units when they were balanced by the low-income units that were — the low designation units 

that were also part of that same population until something happened to them. And so, the unit-by-unit 

approach, which works perfectly well, ideally, this 20/50 and 20/60, needs some kind of adjustment 

when you don't have a bad unit you can point to. When what you have instead is an issue with a group 

attribute. 

MR. TASSOS: Right. You know, in our comments on the proposed rule — 

MR. NOVEY: Mm-hmm? 

MR. TASSOS: — what we said is that we wanted the minimum set aside to be considered met as long as 

40 percent of the units have an average of 60 percent or less of AMI. 

MR. NOVEY: Mm-hmm. 

MR. TASSOS: And in addition, the properties should meet the overall average test of no more than 60 

percent. So, if you do have a unit that's not part of that set aside, that is out of compliance, which causes 

that property-wide average to go below — to go above 60 percent — 

MR. NOVEY: Mm-hmm? 

MR. TASSOS: — we suggest that should be considered noncompliance for that unit, but not a violation 

of the minimum set aside. 

MR. NOVEY: But noncompliance — 

MR. TASSOS: It's very — 

MR. NOVEY: You've already got — 

MR. TASSOS: Yeah. 

MR. NOVEY: — a noncompliant unit, which has been taken out of the low-income status. 

MR. TASSOS: Well, yes. But if you allowed owners to redesignate a unit, they may not have to take it out 

of the basis anyway. If there's a way to fix this with the redesignation of units, we may never need to go 

to them taking a unit out of qualified basis, out of the calculation. 

MR. NOVEY: Well, I mean, the unit that flunked low-income status is going to come out of the basis, 

right? 

MR. TASSOS: Yeah, of course. And that's — 

MR. NOVEY: That's better than — 

MR. TASSOS: — what — 



MR. NOVEY: You know, hypothetically, you had a casualty, and it wasn't fixed for two years. So that unit 

is out of basis, no question. What you're left with is a bunch of units with — you know, the set aside has 

been satisfied, but the non-set-aside population has too high an average. I think what you had said is 

that in any case where that's the problem, redesignation will fix it because we can take the high 

designation units, roll (phonetic) that designation down. At that point we have some tenants who are 

getting the windfall in their rent, but — and maybe their mal-triggering next available unit status for the 

whole building, but if it's 100 percent, that's not going to make much difference. 

But, you know, so without a tenant who is over income, hugely over income, we have a drop in the rent. 

The — I haven't done the math, but the — seeing a, you know, 35/37 percent reduction in rent for one 

of those units, I'm not sure how that would compare to losing the credits on that basis. Credits probably 

(inaudible), in any event. But no, what I hear you saying is, the remaining units ought to satisfy the 

average; if they don't, we can always pitch it for redesignation. That's what I'm hearing you say. 

MR. TASSOS: Right. 

MR. KELLEY: Okay. We wrap that up and move on to the next speaker, then. Is that okay? 

MR. TASSOS: Thank you. 

MR. KELLEY: Okay. Thank you, Mr. Tassos. Appreciate it. Coming up next we've got 

Matthew Reilein of the National Equity Fund. 

MR. REILEIN: Great. Good afternoon. I'm Matt Reilein, President and CEO of National Equity Fund, or 

NEF. Thank you to holding a meeting, this hearing, this afternoon. NEF is a nonprofit syndicator of the 

housing credits. And in that role, we are frequently financing deals that are serving the hardest to serve 

populations and geographies. So, like many others, we pressed Congress to enact the income averaging 

legislation. And we've actually closed about three dozen projects using the income averaging prior to 

October 2020 that took advantage of this new flexibility. 

Unfortunately, the IRS-proposed average income rule, as adopted, an approach that we believe 

undermined that same flexibility, as well as being inconsistent with the current compliance regime that 

the industry relied upon. As a practical matter, a large percentage of investors are no longer interested 

in pursuing projects with income averaging, effecting not only future allocations of credits but also many 

projects that had commitments that are now orphaned. We believe this dilutes the potential power of 

income averaging to better serve the individuals and families we all want to see benefit from the 

housing credit. 

Over the past 30 years, NEF has invested in almost $17 billion worth of projects through the housing 

credit, creating over 185,000 units of affordable housing. These days, on an annual basis, NEF originates 

over a billion dollars in new housing credit investments in about a hundred properties each year. 

This makes NEF one of the largest syndicators of the housing credit, which I think is relevant to offer 

perspective on the market impact of the proposed income averaging regulations. So, I want to briefly 

talk about four things. One, the potential positive impact of income averaging. Two, our practical 

concerns about the proposed regs. Three, the impact of the proposed regs on the capital markets fair 

housing credits. And four, some thoughts on practical revisions and messaging. 



So, first, the potential positive impacts. We believe income averaging has the potential to be a high 

impact evolution on the housing credit program, which is why we as a mission-driven syndicator are 

excited by the prospect. Namely, income averaging expands the reach of the housing credit program to 

reach populations that may not otherwise be served by an affordable housing development financed 

with the tax credits. This means that income averaging could help create more affordable housing units 

in hard-to-serve geographies, particularly rural markets or tertiary cities where market demands may 

not justify the investment otherwise. 

Additionally, in urban or high-demand markets, income averaging is used to reach underserved 

populations by effectively creating an internal subsidy within the property while lower rents conserve 

those populations. So with a mission of not only providing capital, but, more importantly, of breaking 

down barriers for capital to flow into affordable housing, we are very hopeful with the creation of an 

income averaging approach. 

So that means these are practical concerns about the regulations. So in contrast to that hope and reality, 

we are seeing a material reduction in the flow of capital to income averaging deals post the proposed 

regulations. 

What's causing this dislocation in the capital markets? From our view there are three components of the 

proposed regs that are giving investors the most concern. 

The first, which you've heard others and I've referred to as the "cliff event penalty." Even if the 

property's out of compliance by a single unit, the entire property fails. This is viewed by investors as 

draconian and is acting as a significant deterrent to raising capital. Further, given the nature of this type 

of compliance and the corollaries to other minimum set-aside rules, this approach caught even themost 

cautious of investors off balance. 

Second, we think a physical approach — a physical unit approach to affordability designation by tracking 

physical units' affordability, it limits the properties from actively managing compliance with income 

averaging. But perhaps more importantly, it does not allow property managers to take into 

consideration the physical needs of potential residents; for example, the flexibility to move tenants to 

accommodate disabilities or elderly individuals that may be better suited on the ground floor properties. 

Third, an unrealistic expectation of the time needed to identify a compliance issue. The 60 days from the 

time the violation occurred does not take into consideration the practical implications or practical 

realities of leasing, management, and reporting and analyzing it properly. Ordinarily, when managing the 

compliance process we create reporting and mitigation timelines to avoid ever actually 

triggering a compliance problem. The 60 days simply does not allow enough time to create such a 

mechanism. 

Third, I want to talk a little bit about our view of the capital markets' impact. Prior to the release of the 

proposed income averaging regs, we had seen a steady increase in the use of income averaging. In fact, 

we have financed 37 properties with over 4,000 units in 14 states. They're now in various stages of 

completion and stabilization. That pace of deals continued through 2020, even through the pandemic, 

until the release of the regulations. 



That release put a very quick damper on the use of income averaging and caught dozens of deals that 

were in the process of closing off guard. Some could not be restructured because of agreements with 

state housing finance agencies and/or because of the economics and it would no longer work because of 

debt service coverage requirements. 

We as a mission-driven syndicator stepped in in a few instances with our own capital and balance sheets 

to make the deals work, but some deals were beyond the ability of a syndicator to fix it. 

This initial disruption has now extended into 2021. And while deals were orphaned in 2020, there are 

now many deals that are not able to attract capital at all in 2021. As you know, FHA has included income 

averaging in their QAPs and scored properties based on the use of income averaging. Those deals, now 

awarded credits, are also being (inaudible) and claim additional expense and increasingly are facing the 

possibility of not moving forward at all. 

Equity for housing deals is typically raised in one of two ways: First through a multi-investor fund and 

the other is through a single investor fund. As the name suggests, a multi-investor fund typically has 6 to 

12 investors. Given that our investors in the fund have to agree to certain standards and criteria, at this 

point it is almost impossible to place an income averaging deal in a multi-investor fund because even if 

one investor won't accept it, it cannot be placed in the fund. 

For single investors there are also a limited number of major investors who are still willing to accept 

income averaging deals. 

Practically, all told, we believe that the proposed regulations have reduced the income averaging market 

for investors by about 75 percent. 

Last, I want to talk about some practical thoughts on how we could proceed from here. How could we 

address these problems? 

First, we believe there actually should be guardrails and penalties associated with failed compliance with 

income averaging, but the minimum set-aside rule should be treated the same way as in other contexts. 

Effectively, noncompliance should cause recapture of those noncompliant units, but not cause a 

violation or the minimum set aside the results and the project failing to be eligible for credits. 

Two, units of right size should be fungible within the property. This will also both for easier technical 

compliance, but also address the actual needs of the residents and prospective residents in a property. 

Three, the timing of identifying compliance issues should start from the date when it was reasonable to 

have been known and even then the timeline should be extended beyond the 60 days to reflect the 

realities of what it would take to remediate a problem. We suggest 180 days is a more realistic timeline. 

Regardless of what the final regulations say, what the industry needs right now is clarity. And the lacking 

of clarity, HFAs will continue to make awards to developers proposing income averaging and those deals 

will then face the prospect of identifying financing in a dry capital market. 

We certainly hope that the IRS will modify the proposed regulations to support the positive outcomes of 

the income averaging and, in the interim, hope that a statement could be made indicating that revisions 

will be made in order to provide a clear signal to the industry and help thaw out the market until the 

final regulations are actually released. 



Thanks for your attention and your consideration. 

MR. KELLEY: Okay, thank you, Mr. Reilein. Any questions from the panelists? 

One quick question. You mentioned that 60 days is too little, maybe 180 days would be enough. Given 

the rules that now apply to attempts to amend the partnership return, would any amelioration be 

possible before any partnership returns are filed? So, in other words, people might have to be filing on 

extensions, but at least 180 days would be within the period before they absolutely have to file. 

MR. REILEIN: Yeah. I guess I'm trying to understand exactly what you're asking. Is it is the 180 — the 180 

days is sort of a suggestion. It's sort of a practical approach to this where we see, you know, working 

with our property managers as asset managers collecting data, doing our own analysis, and reporting — 

you know, potentially reporting to investors. It seems more consistent with the practical realities on the 

ground. Aligning that with the tax filings of the partnership, you know, I'd have to give that some 

thought and/or probably talk to our accountants and tax preparers. 

MR. HOLMES: And this is James. Just to clarify, I don't think you just said changing 30 days to 180 days. 

You said there'd be a reasonable time to identify it plus 180 days. Is that right? 

MR. REILEIN: Yeah. Well, I think that the current construct, as I understand it, is that it's 60 days from 

the time of the event or the time of the violation rather from, you know, it might be reasonable to 

realize there was a violation. I do think that's an important distinction. 

MR. HOLMES: Right.I just wanted to make sure my — because my question was, was it 180 days? I think 

it's got two components to it that could extent it beyond 180 days. The other component could extend it 

beyond 180 days. 

MR. REILEIN: Fair enough. 

MR. KELLEY: Okay. Any other questions? Thanks, James. 

And (inaudible) something it would probably have to be not more than the extended due date if the 

partnership returns. 

MR. REILEIN: I can see how that makes sense. You know, it is — I think the bigger point is the 60 days 

from the date of the occurrence is just a practical — is not a practical reality of being able to ever 

capture and remediate something within that timeframe. 

MR. NOVEY: You have a lot of company in that perspective. 

MR. REILEIN: Yeah, I'm sure it's not too controversial with my fellow panelists here. 

MR. KELLEY: Okay. Anything further? Okay. We are pushing up against 3:00. We had discussed doing a 

five-minute break at around 3:00, so let's go ahead and do that now. I've got 2:58. We will reconvene at 

3:03 with Kathryn Grosscup of Colorado Housing and Finance Authority. Thank you. 

(Recess) 

MR. KELLEY: Okay, we're back. Next we have Kathryn Grosscup. 

MS. GROSSCUP: Okay. Good afternoon. Can everyone hear me? 



MR. KELLEY: Yep. 

MS. GROSSCUP: Okay. Good afternoon. Thank you for the opportunity to provide comments on the 

average income test proposed rule. My name is Kathryn Grosscup and I am the manager of housing tax 

credit allocation for Colorado Housing and Finance Authority, or CHAPA. I have a background of more 

than 20 years in affordable housing. And I'm presenting on behalf of CHAPA in support of the National 

Council State Housing Agency's recommendation to consider a new proposed rule with the opportunity 

for new public comment for the average income test provision as a minimum set-aside election. 

The Low-Income Housing Tax Credit Program fills an important role in addressing Colorado's varied 

affordable housing needs. There's a strong history of success implementing the program statewide in 

Colorado. Since inception of the program CHAPA has supported about 787 affordable housing 

developments, resulting in over 8,000 units in Colorado. CHAPA estimates that approximately 126,500 

residents live in these properties. 

Colorado experiences strong demand for housing credit. We offer two competitive rounds each year 

with an oversubscription of approximately one award to three applications, so one to three. CHAPA 

strives to support housing needs statewide with about 60 percent of housing credit developments in the 

Denver metro region and about 40 percent in other areas of Colorado. 

The average area median income of households residing in our units is 21,534, or about 31 percent of 

the AMI, indicating the need to be able to support extremely low-income residents. We know that there 

is significant demand for affordable housing statewide. We need the average income test to be a viable 

option to support this demand in order to best serve urban, rural, and mountain resorts communities 

across Colorado. 

Colorado's housing market has changed and the average income provision presents an important 

opportunity to support a variety of communities and different populations. Colorado recovered strongly 

from the 2008 recession with robust population in-migration to the state, strong upward rent pressure 

across much of our state, and very low vacancy rates in many markets. 

Colorado has a wave of preservation needs in the next three to five years. There are a 163 housing 

credit properties with a LURA expiration in the next five years. This is a total of 8,672 units, or 

approximately 13 percent, of our entire portfolio. The average income test could be critical to successful 

preservation opportunities without resident displacement for households between 60 to 80 percent of 

AMI. 

Average income is an opportunity to address more markets across our state that previously could not be 

served with the program. In the Denver seven-county metro area we are experiencing low vacancy and 

high market rate rents, impacting housing challenges for households up to 80 percent AMI and even 

higher. CHAPA estimates that 14 percent of Denver metro renter households could qualify for an 80 

percent AMI unit, indicating strong need. 

The Average Income Program address Colorado's rural and mountain resort affordability challenges with 

the opportunity to serve extremely low-income households with incomes at 20 percent AMI balanced 

with housing that can also serve a community's moderate earning workforce needs, serving renters at 

80 percent in a single project. The program is specifically important in rural areas because it is difficult to 

make very small housing credit projects financially feasible, and rural communities may not have the 



same demand for a large number of units. Thus, more flexibility in income qualification allows for a 

stronger project or, in some cases, for a project to work at all. 

Colorado has successfully worked with our developer community to achieve a range of affordability 

commitments at the project level. Average income offers an expansion of an already successful 

compliance with multiple set-asides in a project. As an illustration, in CHAPA's portfolio there are 3,700 

units set at 30 percent AMI, 6,600 units set at 40 percent AMI, 13,000 units at 50 percent AMI, and 

24,000 units at 60 percent AMI. Out of 50 projects that have committed to average income, there will be 

1,277 units at 70 or 80 percent AMI. 

The strong response for average income in Colorado has chilled from developers and investors. Colorado 

adopted average income in our QAPs starting in 2019 and only for applications without market rate 

units with the following responses. In 2019, 20 of 73 project sponsors applying for credit pursued 

utilization of average income. In 2020, CHAPA received 22 applications for average income out of 67. 

And thus far in 2021 CHAPA's received a total of 8 out of 34 seeking to use the provision. So this is a 

total of 50 developments that have committed in just over two years, reflecting strong initial response 

and then a significant dropping out. 

CHAPA has heard that many investors as well as developers will not accept the current risks of selecting 

average income without a change in the proposed regulations. Some investors may have exited the 

market entirely. Multi-fund investors are stalled because some of the investors within a multi-fund do 

not want any average income deals. So this leaves syndicators with deals to place that otherwise fit in a 

multi-fund and results in pricing changes for a project. 

CHAPA has heard other investors agree to average income only if the average AMI of the project is 

below 55 percent. And there is a significant cushion of 20 percent or 30 percent AMI units that could be 

noncompliant before the average income of the property would exceed 50 percent. This eliminates the 

best use of the provision to serve the most incomes and income — most households and income levels. 

In addition to the inability to provide housing for diverse markets, another challenge with the drop in 

interest for average income is a resulting saturation of 60 percent AMI units in high-demand, primary 

market areas, PMAs. Approximately half of the housing credit supported units in the Denver metro area 

serve households earning 60 percent of AMI. Without the ability to utilize average income to meet more 

diverse market needs at the 20 percent and 70 and 80 percent AMIs, CHAPA will not be able to support 

as many housing units in a defined market area to ensure the ability to absorb all units and support 

successful delivery of credit. This is extremely unfortunate for Colorado as this may limit the program's 

effectiveness in a favorable market environment. 

CHAPA recommends the following key changes to the rule that could strengthen the AIT minimum set-

aside provision. The proposed rule does not allow an owner's ability to change the imputed average 

income of each low-income unit. Owners need flexibility to float AMI commitments across units at the 

project level in order to respond to market conditions. This is a best practice approach for serving 

residents and allows developers to comply with the Fair Housing Act and Violence Against Women Act. 

The proposed rule's method for addressing noncompliance should not require calculation of the average 

AMI at the project upon each instance of noncompliance. 



Given these comments, CHAPA supports the recommendation of NCSHA and others to consider re-

syndication of the proposed rule while adjustments to the implementing guidance are developed 

through new rule-making. As intended by Congress, the average income set-aside is a critical election to 

address housing challenges. 

CHAPA greatly appreciates the opportunity to provide these comments. Thank you very much for your 

attention and time this afternoon, and I'm happy to answer any questions. Thank you. 

MR. KELLEY: Okay. Thank you, Ms. Grosscup. Any questions from the panelists? 

Okay, I'm hearing none, so let's move on to our next speaker, Renee Dickinson from Minnesota Housing. 

MS. DICKINSON: Good afternoon and thank you. My name is Renee Dickinson and I am the multi-family 

manager for Minnesota Housing. 

On behalf of Minnesota Housing I want to thank you, Treasury and IRS, for the opportunity to provide 

testimony regarding the average income test regulations. And I also want to thank the people providing 

the support for this teleconference. 

In my presentation I'm going to refer to the average income test minimum set-aside as AIT just to sort of 

help speed things along a little bit, so. 

Minnesota Housing finances affordable housing properties using bonds, housing tax credits, HOME 

(phonetic), federal housing trust funds, and a myriad of state gap financing programs and amortizing 

loans. Minnesota Housing is also the section 8 contract administrator that monitors a portfolio of both 

traditional and performance-based housing assistance contracts. 

Because financing resources are scarce and constructing or rehabbing affordable housing is very 

expensive, housing finance agencies, like Minnesota Housing, are using multiple sources to fund the 

greatest number of units. In addition to the federal and state loan programs, local funding partners, 

including cities and counties, also provide financing with their own income and rent restrictions. 

Not one single federal or state financing or rental assistance program fixes income and rent limits to a 

specific unit. And I'm not aware of any local program that fixes AMI to the specific unit as well. But even 

for units that are fixed under home regulations, HUD requires owners to redesignate units from low to 

high or vice versa when tenant incomes change. 

Minnesota Housing currently has 16 properties with over 1,700 units that have elected the average 

income test. This doesn't include allocations made by Minnesota's sub-allocators, which I understand 

are unique to our state. And only one property in our portfolio is mixed-income. The rest are 100 

percent restricted. 

Many owners elected AIT primarily to avoid displacing existing residents in preservation deals, including 

households receiving the benefit of section 8, who are over the 60 percent limit, but under 80 percent 

and still considered low-income. Other owners elected the average income test to broaden the base of 

low-income renters, which is what the AIT really was intended to do. 

In Minnesota, the 70 percent and 80 percent rent limits are really competitive with (inaudible) rents for 

market rate properties in nearly all of the states. Minnesota Housing requires rents to be underwritten 

at no greater than the 60 percent MPSP rent limit rates. The importance of the AIT in Minnesota really 



has more to do with broadening the range of households it can serve, not necessarily a way for owners 

to achieve high rent. 

Nine of our 16 properties were financed using tax-exempt bonds. We have at least one property that 

received home funds from a local TJ (phonetic). We've got other properties, again, with gap financing or 

with project-based section 8 where the lending of the AIT with the other financing given the proposed 

rule is going to be problematic. It really will create immediate conflict for these properties. 

And as others have mentioned, investors 

the appetite for AIT from the investor community has really chilled. Other investors are staying in deals, 

but are requiring developers to switch to the 40/60 minimum set-aside to reduce their risk. Our concern 

is with the existing properties that have leased (phonetic) up and filed their 8609s and that would be 

required to comply with the rule with no option to make a change. 

And as far as Minnesota Housing is concerned, from a monitoring standpoint, you know, we're just 

really not set up to monitor six unit designations because we just never had to. Right? We've been 

monitoring properties with multiple income rent restrictions for decades. Our monitoring software, 

which we developed ourselves, would have to undergo significant redesign to accommodate monitoring 

under the proposed rule. And our software would still need to accommodate monitoring unit 

redesignations for every other program. Now, I'm not a software developer, but even I can tell this 

would be a very difficult and costly thing to accomplish, if it's even possible. 

Additionally, because the industry is used to redesignating units and will need to do so for other 

financing programs, it will be all too easy for property managers to inadvertently violate the rule. Agency 

staff will be required to spend more time training and coaching property managers on the rules, writing 

up violations, and trying to explain to the public why their choice of which unit they can rent is so 

limited in a Section 42 property that has elected the AIT versus other properties and even other Section 

42 properties. 

In Minnesota, we require the tenant income certification to establish the owner's unit designation. If the 

owner certifies a household to income qualify at 50 percent and the rent is at or below the 50 percent 

rent limit, then 50 percent is the owner designation for that unit. 

We allow units to float and we allow income redesignation. However, owners must have written policies 

and procedures regarding the circumstances under which it would allow an occupied unit to be 

redesignated to a different income and rent limit than what was originally designated. 

In 100 percent restricted projects, owners also have to establish policies and procedures regarding when 

an income recertification would be performed to redesignate to a different income and rent limit tier. 

Examples of that might be a tenant could request a redesignation because they've had a reduction in 

their income and the owner has the ability to offer lower rent. Another one might be when a new 

income-earning household member is added to existing household and those new members could be 

included as a qualifying household at a higher income limit tier. And this becomes important later on 

under the rules in the 8823 guide that says once existing household members of a qualifying low-income 

unit vacate, any member that was added later that wasn't part of a qualifying household may not qualify 

unless they — they have to be qualified as a new tenant essentially. 



Under the proposed rule, a household that has a reduction in income could be required to move to a 

different unit in order to take advantage of a lower rent. And the owner would need to require a higher 

income household to move to a different unit in order to charge a higher rent. This is far too disruptive 

and expensive to both the owner and the resident to have to move to a different unit to take advantage 

of a different income and rent designation. And that's assuming another unit of the right size for the 

household is even available. 

We require a new initial qualifying certification if an owner wants to redesignate to a different income 

and rent limit. Our software has a specific reporting event for owners to report a change in unit 

designation. That allows an owner to report from an unrestricted to a program restricted if he's got a 

specific household that might not have qualified initially, but become later qualified, or vice versa. 

You've got someone who in a mixed-income property has gone over 140 percent. The owner has 

satisfied the available unit rule and now the formerly low-income unit is now treated at market rate. 

And it also allows owners to report a change from one restriction to another within a particular 

program. For example, if someone moved in and was designated as a 50 percent unit and, again, that 

income changed, the owner certified it's not a 30 percent designated unit, we have a specific reporting 

event in our system for the owner to change that from a 50 percent to a 30 percent unit. 

We always advise owners that they have to be careful to maintain the imputed income average overall 

for the project of 60 percent when renting or redesignating units. And our monitoring for the imputed 

average is that we require the owner to certify on an its annual owner certification how many units it 

has designated under each income and rent limit tier. And also, the units that are occupied or vacated 

by household and otherwise in compliance. Our software calculates the imputed average for each 

project and turns red actually if the number exceeds 50 percent, so we're watching this overall imputed 

average very carefully for each property. 

SPEAKER: This is your one-minute warning. 

MS. DICKINSON: We also review — one-minute warning? Oh, boy. We also review the annual occupancy 

reports that support the owner's certification to determine whether each unit's reported income is in 

compliance with the owner's designation and that the owner isn't charging a rent that exceeds 

allowable income or rent limits for designation. 

I think the rest of my remarks are really going to repeat a lot of what other folks have said, so I'm going 

not skip to the most important part because I only have a small amount of time left. But just to 

respectfully request that Treasury and IRS rescind the proposed rule and to assure existing average 

income test development, so they can continue to rely on the existing policies of the allocating and 

monitoring agencies. This will, hopefully, reassure investors as well and allow them to continue investing 

in AIT properties. 

I ask that you work with NCSHA and state housing agencies to draft new guidance that will achieve the 

goals of IRS and Treasury, but will also work in practical application given all of the different funding 

sources and resident needs at low-income properties. 

I've been monitoring tax credits since 1994. That wasn't long after the Dash-5 (phonetic) regulations 

delegated the responsibility to state agencies. And over the years, I've really appreciated the ability to 

work with the federal agencies to provide the best programs possible for low-income residents. I 



participated in — I was actually part of a 10-member HSA group that worked very closely with IRS on the 

first few drafts of the 8823 guide. And I provided input on subsequent editions and have offered to 

provide input on the next edition if you'll take that offer. 

I was also part of a group that assisted in drafting NCSHA's recommended compliance best practices and 

forms. And I've led Minnesota's efforts to coordinate physical inspections as one of the original six state 

agencies to pilot the federal agencies' interagency inspection alignment. 

I believe the low-income housing tax credit program is so successful because of this kind of collaborative 

work amongst the federal and state agencies. IRS and Treasury understand the tax side and we 

understand the housing side, so that partnership is sure to produce, I believe, a recommendation that, 

again, will meet the needs as well as work in practical application. 

I appreciate the opportunity to speak with you today and I'm happy to answer any questions you might 

have. 

MR. KELLEY: Thank you, Ms. Dickinson. Any questions from the panelists? 

MR. NOVEY: Only an apology that the 10-minute limitation, which we made as a practical 

matter, ended up preventing you from being able to tell us everything that you wanted to. 

MS. DICKINSON: Yeah. I think there were a few comments that I wanted to make about, you know, I 

think there may be some confusion in language regarding, you know, redesignating units and what does 

that mean, and I'm hoping my remarks sort of helped to clarify that for you. 

I think everyone understands that the minimum set aside, AIT minimums set aside, works very similarly, 

or should work similarly to the existing minimum set aside, meaning, you know, in a 20-50 deal you have 

to have your minimum of 20 percent meeting your 50 percent in compliment, and all other low-income 

units need to meet that 50 percent income on it, right. 

That's no different from the AIT which is 40 percent of the units have to meet the average income test, 

or the imputed average 60 percent and then all other remaining low-income units in the project have to 

achieve what I refer to as the overall 60 percent computed calculation. 

The unit redesignations that we are talking about really, in my mind, have a lot to do more with the 

tenant's income, as opposed to being sort of that vehicle for any type of correction of noncompliance, 

right. 

So if a unit is not of compliance for not meeting UPCS, for example, they have got a UPCF violation, right, 

we would report that on an 8823. Assuming that's corrected by the end of the year, the owner gets to 

claim the credits on that unit and everyone is happy. 

The more serious noncompliance that we see I think are occasionally, you know, a tenant files aren't 

properly documents, we can't always tell that the unit is qualified. Occasionally, we find units that are 

over income. 

And I think a lot of us were thinking, like, from a unit designation standpoint, you know, maybe one of 

those 30 percent units is actually over income, right. They're over the 30 percent, but they are under the 

40, or 50, or 60, or whatever, one of the other allowed unit designation. 



Rather than not counting that unit, right, as a 30 percent unit, if the owner were to look paperwork and 

certify that household over again and be able to designate that unit under a income limit that it meets, 

and doing so would still allow the project to maintain that 60 percent overall imputed traction, really, 

there should be no penalty to the owner. 

Rather than, you know, I have locked in a unit designation, this is a 30 percent unit, you're not qualified, 

and what's going to happen to that household? And the owner wants to claim a credit on that unit, 

rightfully so, and so they are going to require that tenant to (inaudible), even though that tenant is still a 

qualified low-income household. But I think that's a lot of the approach that we have had in drafting our 

comments for you today. 

MR. KELLEY: Okay, thank you very much. All right. Let's move on. Our next speaker is Thomas Stagg of 

Novogradec & Company, LLP. 

MR. STAGG: Yes, thank you. Thank you for providing this forum to discuss the proposed regulations. I'm 

Thomas Stagg, a partner and CPA with Novogradec & Company. We have 18 years of experience of 

experience in working at affordable housing. 

I am testifying today on behalf of Novogradec's LIHTC working group. The members for the LIHTC 

working group are participants from the Affordable Housing Development and Finance deal to include 

investors, lenders, for-profit and not-for-profit developers, community development, financial 

institutions, et cetera, et cetera. 

We represent a very broad base of people and many of them were on this call already today. Similar to 

what you have heard today, the market research revolved three main points: Concerns related to 

interpretation of minimum set aside election; concerns related to the timing of the grace period; and 

unit designation changes. 

And I am going to stray from my prepared remarks. Those are the two things we want to focus on, but in 

kind of listening to the discussions and the questions coming from Mike and others, it seems as though 

the minimum set aside issue has kind of been understood. 

And we understand that that is a minimum, but there Still remains this question along the lines of, well, 

what do we do with the remaining unit? Whereas, Mike has said, how do those units count towards 

qualified bases? 

And, to me, this becomes a question of the applicable traction, right, which is different than the 

minimum set aside. The minimum set aside says whether or not we qualify for any credits; whereas, the 

applicable traction tells us how much credits you qualify for. 

I think Mike's question revolves around, well, how many of these remaining units should be included in 

your applicable traction if you have a unit that's out of compliance, particularly, a unit out of compliance 

at one of the lower set asides. 

And I think in order to kind of examine this, we first have to go to the code and read what the code has 

set the relationship to income designation. So this is IRC Section 42(g)(1)(t)(iii) and starts: "Special rules 

related to income limitation for purposes of clause 1." 



Now for those of you who don't have your code in front of you, clause 1 is the minimum set aside test. 

So these are the rules for the income limitation related to the minimum set aside — sorry — to the 

average income minimum set aside. 

And it continues: Designation. The taxpayer shall designate the imputed income limitation of each unit 

taken into account under such clause, events clause. Average test. The average of the imputed income 

limitation designated under subclause 1 shall not exceed 60 percent of area meeting gross income. 

And so, therefore, we see that the keys were determining or not a project has met the 60 percent 

average is based on the designations assigned by the taxpayer to each unit and those designations are 

what much average 60 percent or less. 

And nowhere here does it say that that the qualified units much average 60 percent or less. It focuses 

solely on the designation of the unit. However, that is not to say that the unqualified unit should not 

receive any sort of penalty and they do; the non-qualified units will lose credits. 

So if I have a 40 percent unit that's not in compliance, I will lose credit for my unit. If I have an 80 

percent unit that's out of compliance, I will lose credits on that unit. 

But nowhere in here does it tell us that we need to remove unqualified units from the designation and 

the designation is done by the taxpayer. And nowhere in here does it say that non-qualified units shall 

not be allowed to be included in this calculation. 

So all units that are record their designation should therefore generate credits because they are low-

income units, they are meeting this definition. To redesignate, to somehow say that going out of 

compliance would take away that designation doesn't appear to be in line with much of the code. 

I think that's a big part of Mike's concern is, what do we do with the rest of these units? Can we say, 

well, these units are, to be on record, have designations that are in line with what is contemplated 

under Section 42. 

I know it's a big shift for us who have been doing this for a long time to think that suddenly an 80 

percent unit can generate tax credits. I think there is a lot of kind of buy-in here that will reach a — well, 

obviously, everything has to average 60 because that's what we're used to. 

It's the designations that need to average 60. If we have done the designations right, then losing lower 

designated units should not impact these higher projects average of the designations. 

I'm sorry.I am going off the cuff here because I am trying to respond to this, so my remarks may not be 

as polished as they were if I was sticking straight to the script. 

And so the next thing I want to talk about on this is we have heard a lot about redesignation. How does 

that fit into this? So I think we have to kind of step back and talk about when we talk about 

redesignation to cure through noncompliance, are we talking about redesignation to cure a minimum 

set aside issue, or are we talking about redesignation to cure an issue that doesn't exist the fact that a 

noncompliant unit to make us average greater than 60 percent. 

Let's first talk about why we might want to redesignate. Even though every unit that traces at its 

designation should qualify for tax credits to be included in the application traction, if we have 



noncompliance on a unit, an owner may wish to redesignate to avoid losing credits on that 

noncompliant unit. 

So they may say, oh, we have somebody who moved into a 70 percent unit, who is really an 80 percent 

tenant. Normally, we'd say, yep, you lose credits on that unit. But an owner may say, I would like to 

redesignate this unit so that I can maintain credits on this unit and they might do that by find a unit that 

is a 50 percent designation that could qualify as a 40, or some other unit that they can redesignate so 

that they can avoid losing credit. 

And so even with the interpretation in the code that said, we followed the designations in calculating 

whether or not a project has met the 60 percent requirement but still may have a situation to where we 

want to redesignate to help mitigate the loss of credit but it would not be a redesignate to avoid a cliff 

test of this scenario. 

The only time we would need to redesignate to avoid a CLIF (phonetic) test would be if we had a project 

that was right at the minimum set aside where only 40 percent of the units are affordable. 

If we had any unit go to compliance where we might have to try and redesignate to fix that issue, or if 

we have such egregious noncompliance here that we lost 60 percent of our units to noncompliant and 

now we don't have 40 percent that are rent at their designation then, again, maybe we would want to 

redesignate. 

But it seems as though redesignation should really only be entertained to mitigate the amount of credits 

that are lost not to mitigate any sort of CLIF test because again the minimum set aside test does not 

require that. 

The minimum set aside test requires that 40 percent of your units are rented and income and rent 

qualified at their designation and those designations are what must average 60 percent or less. And 

then a couple of other points, as we were talking, one reminder that you were correct that the average 

income minimum set aside test has not been extended to tax-exempt bonds. However, there are many 

projects that are using tax-exempt bonds and the average income minimum set aside for home 

(inaudible) tax cred. 

So four percent transactions, if you will, are using the average income minimum set aside. And that's 

because, again, for bonds you just have to make a minimum set aside of either 20-50 or 40-60. And we 

have talked about here that in most cases, at least 40 percent of the units are designated at 60 percent 

or lower. So we're able to kind of meet both the bond minimum set aside test and the credit minimum 

set aside test. It would be great if Congress would act and make it so we didn't have to kind of track both 

of those and play some fun game. But, as it stands now, we are seeing both four percent and nine 

percent credits work. 

Now the final point I do want to talk about in my final three minute — chair, I will give myself the three 

minute warning — is the grace period for correcting noncompliance. 

Again, we think that this grace period only requires because of potential misinterpretation of the 

guidance. However, if there is a grace period needed, it is important to note that any grace period that is 

tied to when the noncompliance occurred by definition — well, not maybe by definition, by practicality, 



for all intents and purposes, will never be able to correct noncompliance within a window that's tied to 

the date the noncompliance occurred. 

And that's simply because of how the program works. As you have heard different people testify, there 

is a lot of techs whose offices are in program and we try our best to rent units to qualified tenants. But, 

occasionally, something will slip through the cracks even after it's been review by investors, by the 

property management company, and the owner, something will slip through the cracks and that usually 

is not caught until a state agency comes out and monitors the project. 

And we know that Treasury regulation 1.42-5 states that state agencies are only required to review 

tenant files, you know, once every three years, a 20 percent sample. And for initial files, they're required 

to come out and look at those at the close of the second year following the year that the project was 

placed in service, actually, the last building in the project is placed in the service, if you want to be 

technical. 

And so you're always going to have a lot of time period between when noncompliance occurs and its 

discovered simply because we don't do noncompliance on purpose, right. It's only found when 

somebody else discovers it. 

And so tying that correction period to the date the noncompliance happened, especially in a first-year 

tenant file that isn't discovered until the state agency comes out, before the close of the second year 

following the year the project has placement service. 

So maybe year three of the credit period, you could be looking at a project that loses all of its credit 

simply because under the current frame interpretation, under the current proposed regs, a project 

losing all of its credit because there is one mistake done on a one initial file in that cure period has long 

expired. 

So we would recommend two things. Because they're, one, looking at the kind of guidance that we have 

received in other areas where we say, we can rely on the taxpayers due diligent. And if the taxpayer 

exercise due diligence then the designations are retained and (inaudible) that unit maintains the 

designation and then once noncompliance is found then that unit loses credits obviously, but that time 

period to correct that starts when it's found. 

Obviously, if we have egregious noncompliance, there are other areas of the code where we talk about 

egregious noncompliance to result in loss of all credits. But we're really not worried about egregious 

noncompliance because I don't know if I should say this — if they have been egregiously noncompliant 

then that's not who we are worried about here today. 

That's not who we're testifying on behalf of. We are worried about the honest participants who are 

doing their best efforts to qualify tenants and something happened and so they lose all of their credits. 

And I have 19 seconds left, and I'll just say one final thing. As a reminder, an 80 percent unit at national 

median income for a four percent household is still less than 63,000. So this isn't suddenly reaching up 

to this high stratosphere of income definition that people don't need assistance; that 63,000 for a four 

person household is still quite low. 

So that is the end of my somewhat off the cuff prepared testimony. Thank you for the time. I open up if 

you have any questions for me. 



MR. KELLEY: Thank you, Mr. Stagg. Any questions from the panel? 

MR. TAYLOR: Mr. Stagg, (inaudible) your off the cuff conversation about the CLIF, appreciate it. 

(Inaudible) a location that will winding our way, two of the speakers was, but I think (inaudible) 

clarification because this is such an important project. 

To go back to the earlier part of your testimony, about that, in order to satisfy the set aside tests for the 

remaining 60 percent of units that (inaudible) compliance. 

(Inaudible) new position that those units were also (inaudible) if they are still compliant their original 

official designation that would (inaudible). What did you say? 

MR. STAGG: Yes, that is correct. They wrenched up their designation. They should still be considered to 

be low-income and should still generate tax credit. 

MR. TAYLOR: And only the noncompliant unit absent any sort of efforts to remedy the situation of not 

being entitled to the credit? 

MR. STAFF: That is the correct statement. 

MR. TAYLOR: Okay. Thank you for the clarification. 

MR. KELLEY: Any other questions? 

MR. NOVEY: Yeah.I was a little bit unclear about what his thought about any requirements for the 

designation of the, let's call it, the non-set aside units. So and I guess, first, thank you for your flexibility 

in moving off of your prepared remarks and trying to address what we were struggling with, so that 

makes your comments particularly helpful. 

We have got the situation where various, you know, percent of the units, they are designated, the 

average is perfect and I need to tie them up in a bow and say, okay, set aside is satisfied. 

The question then is, is there any requirement other than that there be designation and compliance 

with the designation for the non-set aside units for the other dev (phonetic) units in this building? 

MR. STAGG: Yeah, that's great. I may kind of separate the — I'm sorry. 

MR. NOVEY: No, so if my question is clear, at this point, by all means, go ahead and answer it. 

MR. STAGG: Yeah. I think we kind of have to bifurcate this question in two parts because we have a 

designation issue and then the tenant qualification issue. So I think that when we talk about designation, 

when we say that the average of the designations have to equal 60 percent, we are referring to 

obviously the minimum set aside that also in the entire project. 

The entire project must have designations that average 60 percent. So you can't say, oh, I'm going to 

designate 40 percent of my units till average 60 percent, then the remaining 60 I'm going to designate at 

80. 

I believe that the designations all need to average 60 percent. I think that's in line with the code where it 

talks about special rules related to income limitations but says the average of the imputed income 

limitations designated shall not exceed 60 percent. 



So I think that, yes, the designation needs to average 60 percent. Now we shift over and say, well, what 

about compliance with that? 

So if we have a tenant that moves into a unit and is unqualified that does not change that designation. 

So our designation on those remaining units just need to average 60 percent. But if we have a non-

qualified tenant that does not remove that unit from that designation calculation. 

So, and another way, if I have 100 affordable units I have designated, when I am calculating my 60 

percent, I would always include all 100 units in that calculation regardless of their good line standard 

and perhaps they wrote that I have 40 percent that are income- and rent-qualified at their designation. 

If I say, yes, if I have no minimum set aside issue and say, okay, the remainder if they're wrenched up 

their designation, they earn credit. So if they are not wrenching up their designation, they do not earn 

credit. 

It's a simple on/off switch on each unit, as long as the designations have averaged 60 percent across the 

project. And so you're right. 

MS. NOVEY: Just — I realize that this hypothetical was not applied to any of your clients. But let's 

suppose that in this, let's call it, the non-set aside population of events? Suppose that you had, oh, 20 

designated at 20, 40 designated at 80, so the designations are cool? 

MR. STAGG: Yeah. 

MR. NOVEY: And then the buildings went ahead and left us the 20s at market rates? 

MR. STAGG: Okay. 

MR. NOVEY: So, no question that the market rates are not in (inaudible) to the any qualified basis. 

MR. STAGG: Correct. 

MR. NOVEY: But does the set of designations which are being ignored, are those designations effective 

to make all of the 80s legit for purposing of market? 

MR. STAGG: Yeah, that's a great question. This was one that we wrestled with, right, because it's the 

whole bad actor and it's the bad applies spoil the whole bunch. And I would say that based on the literal 

reading of the code that that would technically work. 

And now nobody is real happy with that outcome, right, because that's not the point of this program. 

That's not what we're trying to fight to protect. And that's why Mike talks about this kind of 

noncompliance issue that I think that it makes logical sense to say that in order for a designation to be 

respected, we have to look at good faith efforts to rent it at that level. 

And what do we have, the vacant unit rule, and the local (phonetic) unit rule, where we look at those 

good faith efforts and the owner has to show reasonable cause in the error that led to this unit not 

being qualified. They think that's a much better way to kind of address the bad actor fraud without 

penalizing everybody else who is making an honest mistake. 



So I do think that through regulations that are not necessarily what's covered in the code, but through 

regulation, it can be clarified that for designation to be maintained there has to be reasonable efforts to 

rid it at that designation. 

And if the designation violated that, you know, upon removal of that tenant, or when that tenant leaves 

— I don't think any of us want to lead to the fact where we start evicting tenants who are add 40 

percent instead of 30, right, you still need the assistance. 

But upon the end of that tenancy, the unit has to be rented to a qualified individual or else credit can be 

disallowed back to that initial occupancy and so this is — I think that so we don't want to throw this 

baby out with the bath water here and write a Draconian policy that punishes the few bad actors. 

And I think we have room already to do that. And on top of that state allocating agencies have 

regulatory agreements, right, that monitor these projects and say they have to do certain amounts of 

compliance. 

And so if a developer did that two things are going to happen: Number one, they'll never do another 

project in that state again, which seems like a big risk for just one project; and then, number two, that 

regulatory agreement would allow a state agency usually to go as far as foreclosing on the project or 

suing per specific performance. 

And so there still are tools to take care of this that I think that allows the service to write regulations 

that are interpreted in a more favorable light to the industry but still allows us room to kind of claw back 

at the bad actors. 

And I think the biggest one though is the reasonable cause, which again takes reporting to out the right 

history of respecting that reasonable cause doctrine and allowing units to maintain their designations 

even for these slip-ups as long as we can show, hey, we have policies and procedures in place that 

should have caught this but slipped through. We have, you know, et cetera, et cetera, that this is truly 

an isolated incident. 

MR. NOVEY: So in this case what you're really asking for is a very definite absence of clarity and instead 

— you know, not saying that it's bad, but a situation where the bad actor, if any exists, would have a 

return position in which they would not be claiming credit and is not claiming a qualified basis on the 

kind of 20 units that they're renting at essentially a (inaudible). 

And it would be up to the state agency or IRS exam to get into a conversation about how much effort 

constitutes a good faith effort to rent to the tenant that was committed and they needed — and the 

tenant need, I would think, because they are charging — forget about finder and get the right person — 

that they're charging rents that are in excess of what the maximum gross rent for that income level. 

I'm not sure you would want to require an old inquiry to, you know, put them on the couch and 

psychoanalyze and say, this is overtly inconsistent with that being a low-income unit, in which case, we 

are into the posture — it was discussed earlier of how does it deal with a group failure because of the 

owner has already said on these 20 punitive, 20 AMI units? 

I'm not claiming on the basis (inaudible), so at some point, there is a failure of the group criteria which is 

not resolvable by saying we're going to pull up the noncompliance that (inaudible). 



MR. STAGG: Yeah, that's a great question. First off, the CPA, I would say, I make my living in the gray 

area from the IRS, so I'm comfortable with gray areas. 

But I think that, all joking aside, that the key is — and this would be kind of the key interpretation here is 

that in order for designation to be respected and included in this designation we have talked about it 

has to be good faith attempts to rent it out. 

And, obviously, you picked a perfect example. If they're charging market rate rent, I don't see how they 

can argue if they made a good faith effort to rent that at a 20 percent, right, that gap is way too large to 

be an honest mistake unless somebody just added a two in front of the number on accident. 

And so when it happens to that level of egregious noncompliance then that is pulled out of the 

designation. And so it's no longer included in this designation it seems the project average is 60 percent. 

And so they're in this framework we have already outlined. 

MR. NOVEY: Okay. So what's the consequence of the project that's wholesaling the average 60 percent? 

MR. STAGG: Right. So if you can't satisfy — well, first off — if they can't satisfy that at least 40 percent, 

or rent to the right designation, that 40 percent — 

MR. NOVEY: Those are — 

MR. STAGG: Yep, they lose everything and now — 

MR. NOVEY: Our premise is of that 40 percent is locked out on their code? 

MR. STAGG: Yeah.And so, on this case, they would have had an egregious noncompliance. They would 

not be able to take credits on this — as you called, this remaining group of units, which is somewhat of a 

counterintuitive term to me, but I'll roll with it. They would not be able to — 

MR. NOVEY: So use the term that's intuitive to you because if I can correct my language to something 

that's intuitive people of the real world that's much better. 

MR. STAGG: No, that's fine. So I would say that, again, you could only take credits on units where the 

designations average 60 percent. And so if we brought these units designations, we now would have to 

step back and say, well, what group of units do these designations average 60 percent? 

And if we can carve that out, then there is the ability to take credits on those remaining ones. But 

absent that ability to say these designations — again, I am focused on the designation. And in an 

egregious noncompliance, we lose that designation. We look and say, if you can't show me that your 

designations average 60 percent, we don't have a qualified project. 

And so what would happen is you basically start — I won't say the cliff test you have talked about, but in 

a much kind of more — and I'm just kind of speaking frank here — in a much more kind of co-literalist 

(phonetic) interpretation of how that designation works, I would say that at that point if you can't show 

me that 80 percent — basically, you'd earn credits on whatever percentage you can show the 

designation that you make good faith effort to rent are at 60 percent. 

And then you'd look inside of that and say, inside this new grouping of units you can take credits on 

anyone that's qualified. But you can't show me that you have a designation average that equals 60 

percent and so you are not going to be able to take credits. And but the key, key, key here is that it's on 



the designation and a single unit of noncompliance does not change the designation.So I don't want to 

get (inaudible). 

MR. NOVEY: Sure. 

MR. STAGG: — a little too hard, but that is a known difference between the proposed regs and the code 

language surmising your proposed regs with a 60 percent of qualified units; whereas, we look at 60 

percent of the designations. 

And that's the difference here. But I think that we're kind of meeting in the middle here and saying, 

yeah, if we have egregious noncompliance they will lose their designation. And now we're both speaking 

the same language where we say, yeah, we need a basket of units that can meet this 60 percent or else 

you can't take credit. 

So, you know, on the speaking circuit I kept saying there is no cliff test. But there is a cliff test and there 

is a cliff test where the 40-60 minimum says that as well, if you have egregious noncompliance you're 

barreling towards that cliff done in (inaudible) style. But as long as you're doing things correctly that cliff 

is so far removed from you, you don't have any concern about it. 

MR. NOVEY: And so to understand the criteria, if any, for having a designation, and I guess you're saying, 

it ought to be something which may potentially be a low-income unit, but may subsequently fail to be a 

low-income unit as the designation is still valid? 

MR. STAGG: Correct, that designation — yeah, go ahead. 

MR. NOVEY: So, in other words, if you had units that were not in compliance with general public use so, 

you know, you're designating the income but, you know, it's an enforcement, whatever reason it fails 

the consent of general public use, as an example, company, town, or travel organizations, or fails FHA, 

or fails their housing act stuff, even if designated you would take those out of the decks because you're 

saying, well, that wasn't a good faith designation. 

But if you designated them and you went along for a while, and then after two years — you know, after 

two years, with the existing tenants departed (inaudible), you begin renting them only to non-general 

use people, or students, or whatever. 

However your current occupancy happened to be, you're going to give out credit on those units. But 

you're not going to say that the population of non-set aside units has swept (phonetic) its average. 

MR. STAGG: Yes, I believe, if I understood you correctly, as long as good faith efforts are being made to 

rent them to the appropriate tenants, right, we focus on income in rent, but there is also student status, 

there is other rules you brought up, also making the effort to rent it at a designation that should make it 

designation and failure to rent to the actual tenant. 

But, you're right, but in cases where you have blatant disregard to the rules, where you say, yep, this is 

only rented to employees of, you know, the mining company. That, in my opinion, will likely be 

egregious. 

But I think that, you know, I like what we have done in the past with the vacant unit rule where, you 

know, the IRS says, we're not going to tell you what reasonable attempts that are kind of like the old 

doctrine. I know it when I see it. 



And I think that it's probably wise to rely on, you know, your state agency partners who are so, so good 

at this you kind of defined that. I think that, you know, there are some on this case, and they'd probably 

weigh in too, and say that they're comfortable with being the ones who kind of have to look into that 

and they will be the one to report that to the IRS. 

Again, one more point I wanted to make on this is, you know, we have worked — you made this point 

that, oh, it wouldn't be found until — this egregious noncompliance wouldn't be found until, you know, 

the state agency reviews. 

But, as a reminder, state agencies are required to collect a project status report every year and would 

tell you, you know, the income and rent of all tenants. So, a state agency, on an annual basis, well, 

they'll see it pretty quickly if kind of wanton, egregious noncompliance of renting, you know — of 

renting all 20 percent units, to use your example, to mark every tenant, they would see that on an 

annual basis kind of right away. 

And so there wouldn't be a long period of time where noncompliance sits there, where egregious 

noncompliance, that basically they're saying, catch me if you can, IRS, come and get me, but I'm doing 

this. I think that that sort of noncompliant is usually caught pretty quickly because it is so egregious, 

right. 

MR. NOVEY: Right, yeah. The public (inaudible) would be much less likely to be caught. 

MR. STAGG: Yeah. But, you know, with general public use, you're going to actually find that out pretty 

quickly, too. But, to me, it's not a one company town because state agencies will get a call pretty quickly 

saying, hey, I can't move into this project because they say I don't work here. 

Tenants have a hotline to state agencies, that is for sure. And so, but you're right, there are some 

egregious. There are some people skirting the rules that may not get caught, but that's probably true of 

the 40-60 minimum set aside, as well, that it wouldn't get caught. 

And on that one, as well, if you're violating the general use requirement, we'd probably say even though 

100 percent of your units are income and rent qualified, you probably have cliff issue because you 

violated a fundamental rule. And so I don't see that that's a unique rule, or a unique situation to the 

average income minimum set aside test. 

MR. NOVEY: Thank you. 

MR. STAGG: This has been a great discussion. I was thinking, you know, I'm on the west coast, as well. 

Washington state is very well represented today between Melissa, Lowel, and myself; I can let myself in 

there. 

And I just want to say this has been a great dialogue. And I have always been thankful, the IRS has 

unique interest in this program and listening to us and understanding, you know, given us a framework 

that keeps people in compliance, protects the IRSs interests, as only giving credit to units that's really 

qualified and set up a framework that allows us to be successful, allows investors to invest with 

confidence, and allows young developers to build high quality, meaningful projects. 

And so that's why we feel so passionate about this hearing and the 15 people here meeting all day. And 

so I'm glad that you made the time for us. I'm very glad that you're asking such thoughtful questions. 



MR. NOVEY: (Inaudible) you're glad that we didn't have this at the usual time (inaudible) your phone. 

(Laughter) 

MR. STAGG: Yeah. 

MR. NOVEY: At 6 o'clock in the morning, or something like that. 

MR. STAGG: Yes, I enjoyed that as well. I was glad you put me at the end, so I could really wake up. 

(Laughter) 

MR. NOVEY: Yeah, that was not my doing. That was entirely (inaudible). But I will say that the LIHTC 

team here did ask the regs unit to start that because we suspected that there were folks who would 

want to call in from the west coast. But the order of the list is not us at all. 

MR. STAGG: Yeah, but we're now we're going to send it to the east coasters because it's almost 5 o'clock 

there, and they might have to stay late so — 

MR. NOVEY: Well, a little bit after 4, and closer to 4, so but I think we're ready. 

MR. STAGG: Great.All right, and thank you. 

MR. NOVEY: Thank you. 

MR. KELLEY: Okay, thanks, Mr. Stagg. 

Let's move on to Anthony Zeto from the California Tax Credits Allocation Committee. 

MR. ZETO: Good afternoon. Thank you again for the opportunity to participate in today's hearing on 

average income test proposed regulations. 

Just to give you some background, TCAC is the administrator of the Low Income Housing Tax Credit 

Program for the State of California. The current portfolio consists of over 4,000 projects and 

approximately 300,000 units. TCAC monitors more than 1,000 projects and 15,000 units annually. So 

that's just a little background. 

When the average income test was signed into law in 2018, you know, the intent was to broaden the 

income range of low-income residents so allow projects to reach extremely low-income levels at 20 

percent all the way through 80 percent of varying median income where it may not have been possible 

previously. The average income test election allowed projects the ability to qualify units between the 60 

percent AMI and 80 percent AMI levels as low-income units, thereby allowing those projects that may 

have previously been structured as a mixed-income project can now be 100 percent low-income 

housing. 

That minimized the displacement of current residents at these existing preservation projects. In 

California the majority of the projects awarded are 100 percent low-income units, which means that the 

implementation of the average income test set-aside opens up a lot of housing opportunities for 

thousands of people in the state where the housing need is reaching an all-time high. 

For some projects that would otherwise have been structured as a mixed-income project, the average 

income test allows these projects to ask for additional tax credits for units restricted at or below 80 



percent of varying median income, making the projects more financially sound and serve the tenant 

population in desperate need of housing. 

So the proposed rule will likely have an adverse effect on investor interest, as previously stated, with the 

average income test election, and without the investor interest of these fail of the tax credit, the 

average income test election will not be utilized in projects, thereby providing no benefit to the 

residents of the projects and reducing the availability of housing for these low-income residents in 

California. 

But the proposed rule, as it is affected, the developers are likely to restrict the projects income average 

further below 50 percent AMI as they would otherwise, you know, want to ensure that the maximum is 

not exceeded, is due to the increased risk resulting in a project cash flow, putting in question the 

project's long-term viability. We expect that this will contribute to the existing concerns by prospective 

investors on average income test set-aside projects. 

And since the average income election became law, CTAC has awarded nearly 120 projects who have 

selected the average income test minimum set-aside. In response to these proposed changes we've 

been recently approached by some of these projects that made that election that are now requesting to 

change their election. Furthermore we've been informed that as to any modification to the proposed 

changes, some investors have indicated that they will no longer be investing in projects with this 

average income test election due to the added risks. 

One of the concerns, as the others have raised that preceded me, was that the minimum set-aside, 

obviously a single unit being out of compliance should only result in that unit being deemed out of 

compliance and not a violation of the minimum set-aside rule. We believe these isolated instances of 

noncompliance on specific units should not result in a project suffering the severe consequences of not 

meeting the minimum set-aside and lost credits. 

Another concern we have is relating to the inability to modify use designations for average income test 

set-aside projects. The proposed change is inconsistent with statutory and presents conflicts with Fair 

Housing Act, section 42, sorry, section 504 and the Violence Against Women Act, VAWA, as well as 

projects utilizing the Federal programs such as HUD and USDA. Section 42 does not currently prohibit 

modification of unit designations, and many states, including California, have relied on modifying unit 

designations in order to meet program requirements. It is imperative that the proposed language allow 

for the owner to modify these designations on average income test set-aside projects. 

While the proposed language provides a timeframe within which mitigating actions can be taken of up 

to 60 days following the calendar year in which the noncompliance occurred, I'll just reiterate what 

other commenters have stated, that the owner may not be aware of some of these noncompliance 

issues until after the state agency has identified them, which is likely to be after the 60 day mitigation 

period due to the requirements of compliance monitoring every three years. So in conclusion, you know, 

I'm not 

going to utilize my full 10 minutes but, you know, I'd just reiterate a lot of the comments made. But 

we'd like to recommend that the average income test minimum set-aside be met, deemed being met if 

at least 40 percent of the units maintain an average of up to 60 percent median income or less, 

consistent with the other minimum set-asides. 



And in addition, we recommend that the allowance to modify unit designations to meet program 

requirements and other Federal programs and laws previously mentioned. 

Thank you for the opportunity to provide comment and testify at this hearing. If you have any questions 

I'm available. 

MR. KELLEY: Thank you, Mr. Zeto. Any questions from the panelists? Okay. Not hearing any, thank you 

for your time. I'm sorry, did someone have a question? Okay. Let's move on to our next speaker, Glenn 

Graff of Applegate & Thorne-Thomsen PC. 

MR. GRAFF: Hi, everyone. Thank you for this opportunity to speak at this hearing. I'm an attorney. My 

practice focuses primarily on will, trusts, and tax credits. I've been doing this for 20 years. I and my firm 

represent developers, investors, lenders, and tax credit institutions. We have a broad view of how 

people have reacted to these rules. 

I'm on the governing committee of the American Bar Association's Forum on Affordable Housing 

through incumbent law. In part on the governing committee I was the co-chair or chair of the Tax Credit 

Initiative of the Financing Committee of the Forum on Affordable Housing for about 10 years. I'm also an 

active member in the LTCAC working group that Thomas Staggs just spoke for, and also Burton Rossi 

(phonetic), Tax Credit Coalition, who spoke earlier. 

I want to say that the letter that we drafted — the comment letter we drafted was from some of the 

leaders of the Tax Credit Equity Financing Committee of the Forum on Affordable Housing. The Forum 

has 3,200 members, but due to the bureaucracy of getting approval of all of them, the letter is from the 

leaders of the Committee, and I am speaking on their behalf today. I have not been retained or 

compensated by any clients in developing my response to these proposed regulations. 

And I'd like to direct people for a detailed discussion of the issues, please see our comment letter, which 

we submitted on December 20th. It's also been published in the Journal on Affordable Housing in Law, in 

line 29, page 361. 

My experience has been that investors are very concerned about average income and they're pulling 

back. Some won't do average income deals at all or else they require significant buffers that hurt deals, 

which reduces cash flow starting projects because they might have reduced commercial loans and thus 

electing the average income approach is actually hurting the projects. 

But I don't think it has to. Similar, Thomas Skaggs, who just spoke, sees things very similar to me, and 

he's talked to me in the Atlantic working group, so it's not a surprise. But our view is that the average 

income set-aside should be based on the taxpayer's designation as you look to the Code. And it 

shouldn't be recomputed every year based on actual rental. It's a minimum set-aside and it's only 40 

percent, it's not 100 percent minimum set-aside. And I think we need to focus on it's a two-step process. 

The first step is 50 average of the low-income units. And that is designated by the taxpayer, and that is 

what the Code refers to. And once we figure out what that average is in that time, there's no 40 percent 

group of units, it's all of the low-income units, however many there are. If it's a 100 percent low-income 

project it's all of them. And use the average the taxpayer put in and all of them, mute to percent 

requirement. And then that establishes just what is our average? 



Not have how we have met the minimum set-aside, just what average have we met? And if that average 

is 60 percent then the next step is, has the minimum set-aside been met? And then we look at actual 

rentals of units and if there are some units who have not complied, then as long as we have 40 percent 

that have complied with the designation. So as a taxpayer we would meet our minimum set-aside. 

Critically, no one's getting away with anything, there's no credits that would be earned on a 

noncompliant unit. So if you have a 40 percent unit and it's somewhere at (inaudible) percent of income, 

by mistake we'd say that there's no credit that would be generated on it. But that unit has a designation 

of 40 and that 40 would be used in determining if the 60 percent average is met. 

So, you know, the taxpayer needs to, the owner needs to designate those units, they should follow the 

process that the credit agencies have set up for designations. We think it's important that the 

designation should be able to float, for many of the reasons discussed already, compliance of federal 

laws, the nature of rented units. This should be able to float. And just annually can you prove up that 

your designations average 60 percent. And then calculate how your credits are being calculated. 

I submitted an outline with examples and you all have that. It's been published on Regulations.gov so 

I'm trying to respond to some of the questions that I've heard. 

We brought up about what is one view about the bad actor. And, you know, our response, similar to 

what Thomas said, is that as long as the designations are made in good faith by the taxpayer — this is in 

our letter, I'll just read what the letter says, the letter we submitted on December 20th. The good faith 

of the taxpayer may be established by showing that the project complies with the available unit rule, 

regulation 1.42-5C1a, in the general public use of 1.42-and other criteria in the judgement of the state 

housing agency. A taxpayer attempting to rule out those designations who purposely did not comply 

would be deemed abusive and such designated would then be disregarded, the purpose to determine if 

the project complies with the 60 percent average income requirement. 

So, yeah, our view is that every project is going to have a marketing plan and have detailed criteria 

about how they rent units. And as long as they have a reasonable plan and they follow that plan, and if 

there are mistakes in the rental of units or if there units are taken out of service unexpectedly, that 

should not affect the designation because one thing we haven't talked about here enough is that we 

don't think that a casualty, like in the example in the regulations, should take a unit out of the average. 

Our position would be that if a unit was properly designated and, for example a unit, a 40 percent unit 

has a fire, then as long as the taxpayer is remediating that unit in a plan that's approved by the credit 

agency, that unit should stay in the fraction — not in the fraction I should say clear, should stay in solely 

for purposes of computing the 60 percent average. That unit would not generate tax credits, it wouldn't 

be habitable, it would (inaudible)  a loss of credits on it, possible recapture, or probably not because 

there's exceptions for recapture from casualties. 

We think it's very important that the designation is okay, there's no abuse going on here as long as 

you're working with your credit agency in remediating it appropriately. We think that's an important 

point. 

To get to some of the other things. We also agree that the 60 day mitigation period is, should we need 

one, is way too short. We would recommend looking at the Code, which in the extended use provisions 

42H6J, provides taxpayers with a year to fix noncompliance with the extended use requirement, from 



the date they're notified of noncompliance. And we would suggest that the primary issue that comes up 

in compliance is unknown noncompliance, mistakes in tenant rental, a mistake in computing and, until 

then, allowance, and you end up a couple dollars over in rent. That as long as you have, you know, fix it 

within a year of being notified of such a thing, that that would be an appropriate mitigation period. If for 

some reason that's deemed too long, then some other period that starts with the date of notification of 

noncompliance would be critical to making mitigation work appropriately. 

You know, otherwise things like converting a marketing unit, you can't really do that within 60 days of 

being detected. It's just not possible. You couldn't even move in it because you wouldn't know about it. 

So those are some of the issues that we have identified. I didn't wear my timer so I'm not sure how 

much time I have left. But we also think that, as we talked about, restoring units are very important. 

I did want to get to what I think Mike Novey brought up, but the affect date if language and whether 

having the final regulations be effective for projects that received their allocations after the regulations, 

whether that be affected. I think that could be a good approach, obviously triggering off the date of 

allocation or the date of a bond issuance when bond cap is used. 

What I would suggest though is we would leave a question mark for projects that precede that date. And 

so if we were to go that route I would say that there should be a presumption that the projects that 

received their allocations prior to regulations, that compliance with the rules of the credit agency would 

be compliance with the average income for projects that received their allocations ahead of time. 

Otherwise those projects don't know where they are and people might look at these proposed 

regulations and that would be helpful. So I think that an effective date in that manner would be 

effective. 

I appreciate the opportunity to testify today, and I would like to answer any questions if I can be of 

assistance. 

MR. KELLEY: Okay. Thank you, Mr. Graff. Any questions from the panel? 

MR. NOVEY: One question. When you said that a casualty shouldn't take a unit out of the average, does 

that apply not only to the non-set-aside units is what they call them, the ones which are getting credits, 

they're contributing to qualified basis but they aren't part of the set-aside. Or if you had a situation with 

a like — a smaller number of units that were low-income in the building and therefore let's say all of 

them required for the set-aside. If one of them ceased to qualify as a low-income unit, would its 

designation still qualify for the average? 

MR. GRAFF: If I understood the question, my view is that the designation is a separate process from 

have I met the minimum set-aside. So I'm saying solely for purposes of the (inaudible) percent, does the 

average 60 percent, that's all of the units. I'm not thinking of this as a non-designated view that's your 

non-set-aside units. 

Out of a 100 unit project and — let's see, I have in the outline I submitted, was assume you have 100 

units, 90 at (inaudible) percent AMI, five units at 40 and five units at 80. So I'm perfectly at 60. And I 

think your question, Mr. Novey, is if let's just say one of my 40 percent units had a fire, and that one — 

MR. NOVEY: I understood that that was your suggestion in the case of the 100 unit project. What I was 

wondering was if the same rule would carry over for set-aside purposes. So you might have a project or 



building with 100 units total, 60 are market grade, 40 are designated in a way that is consistent with 

average 60 AMI. And one of the lower units, or one of the units with a lower AMI designation, at least 

temporarily fails to be a low-income unit. Would you say that because of the designation where that 

now non-low-income unit you would be okay? 

MR. GRAFF: Well I think you're still okay for computing your average. Once you move beyond that, I 

mean I think it's the same question of if you have a 40/60 set-aside deal but you have 60 percent of your 

units are market, 40 percent are low-income. Let's say they're all at 60. If you have fire in one unit you 

may then fail the minimum set-aside. So I'm not proposing it would be any different. 

MR. NOVEY: You're failing the minimum set-aside because you don't have enough units that are low-

income units regardless of the designation. 

MR. GRAFF: Right. Yes. Well I think the designation would still hold, you would still have a 60 that would 

average, you just don't have — 

MR. NOVEY: But you don't have you have 40, you'd have 40 percent. I understand. 

MR. GRAFF: I mean there's a different consideration of whether, you know, if you're following a, you 

know, a casualty remediation plan authorized by your credit agency whether you should really use 

credits, you know. So that is not really part of this minimum set-aside issue that that figure with credit 

and how that works. 

MR. NOVEY: Okay. 

MR. GRAFF: I'm not suggesting that we shouldn't create a — did we hit a 60 percent average problem 

from a casualty. Other than that they're treated the same as any other unit. 

MR. KELLEY: Okay. Any other questions? All right. Thank you, Mr. Graff. Let's move on to our final 

speaker of the afternoon, which is Jen Brewerton from Dominium. 

MS. BREWERTON: Hi there, Jennifer Brewerton from Dominium. I'm vice president of compliance for 

Dominium. We're a company operating (inaudible), 1,000 affordable units in 22 states. We came into 

the industry as a company in 1972 as a project section 8 owner and moved to LIHTC in 1990. And so our 

heart is very much into affordable housing. 

And you've heard a lot of passion today I think and a lot of emerging deep passion as well, and I just 

really appreciate that you're still listening to me as the last speaker, and trust me, I feel a lot of pressure 

being the last speaker either. Thank you so much for the opportunity to speak and the time that you 

take, and I really, I administer the fight as well. 

My testimony today comes from the perspective of an affordable housing advocate of over 20 years in 

affordable housing, 10 of which was with a financing agency in Texas, three of which was a private based 

contract administrator, but most of my comments today comes from the perspective of an owner and 

operator of average income properties that are on the ground and those that were planned and accrued 

by state agency for the average income test. 

And by the way, sometimes I'm just going to say AI because we use the word a lot. I'm also trying not to 

repeat what's being said. But I'm kind of coming from the perspective of actually doing the work and 



building the sticks and bricks, and qualifying the tenant, so I'm not eliminating much of what I originally 

meant to say. 

I'll first deal with the releases on this bill when it came out on March, 2018. My company was initially 

worried about what we've been talking about today. I think everyone across the nation when they saw it 

thought there might be a 100 percent clip when one unit goes out of compliance. 

However, as an industry, since March 2018, and scrutiny of the actual language of the bill and 

discussions with authors who wrote the bill and what the intent was, the industry as a whole came 

together in the most amazing way and effectively culminated fairly consistent policy and agreement in 

that there is not that minimum set-aside clip, you know, while there always has been and that there is a 

minimum set-aside clip in the same way that there's always been for the other set-asides, it's 20 at 50, 

40 at 60, or 25 at 60. 

But we agree that there is no 100 percent clip for all the reasons you've heard about today. So investors, 

agencies, and owners felt comfortable with the program and we started doing a lot of these. 

As an owner we enthusiastically threw ourselves into this election. We made the election by default, so 

that means that even if we are operating a property at 100 percent/60 and intend to operate the 

property at 100 percent at 60 in perpetuity, we're making the election just as a default, just in case the 

market changes later on and it would be helpful to the property or the resident. 

We made the election for private based section 8 properties that we were adding tax credit to purposely 

so that we would not need to relocate residents that are living at the property now but who, in time, 

might have been above 60. We also made the election in areas where area median incomes are very 

low, we're finding 60 percent household is difficult but affordable, excuse me, is difficult but affordable 

housing is very difficult to find. 

We also made the election in metro areas where that missing middle income group has been very 

underserved when they're above 60 but under 80 and are in dire need of affordable housing. 

And where residents between 20 and 50 also are in need of affordable housing. 

So in short, we're doing it for all the reasons that the program was developed and intended in the first 

place. I say this because I cannot say more strongly that we would not have made a single election in all 

of those examples or (inaudible) election at application or (inaudible) for our original plan if this draft 

rule was released just after the omnibus in March of 2018. 

I'm not trying to sound dramatic, but I'll just say I cannot stress enough that the testimony that you've 

heard today is correct, and I can echo what Thomas said because I'm so grateful for this opportunity to 

meet with each other and that you're listening in for all this time. 

To put it in real terms where we stand now I want to share that as a company, just our company, we're 

in the process of walking back around an application that are in process or already approved by a state 

agency but we haven't actually (inaudible). So it is better to make the 40/60 elections or 100 percent 

fraction. This already has resulted in hundreds of units in the past that were going to be served at 20, 30, 

40, 50, 70 and, 80 percent, and may result in the need to relocate residents on project such as section 8 

from their homes who are above the 60 percent limit where we're adding tax credits. So we fully expect 



what we were already intending to do. We were already going to be serving all of those folks and we are 

not going to now unless or until this gets resolved. 

You're heard a lot of passion today. Speaking personally I just wanted to say that it did pretty much 

break my heart, my little African heart, when I read the purposed rule because I knew this is such an 

incredibly powerful tool that's badly needed in a terrible housing crisis and during a pandemic, and I 

knew that we would immediately lose the opportunity, even though this is only in draft form, to 

continue to use averaging as an election. 

So I just want to kind of say that aside from those properties that we've lost with the draft order 

released, we do have properties with 80/60 that we've already elected under AI that the draft rule, we 

don't have release for, and that it's been election. 

And I just want to throw in a couple of examples; real world examples of the things that we're talking 

about today, why we would have made the election, why we went forward with understanding the state 

agencies. 

I think the best example is Park Avenue West in Colorado. This property is one that we resyndicated 

using average income in late 2018, so it was one of the newer properties. This property was one that we 

talked about it a lot. Many of us in the industry for years and years have already being doing this 

additional set-asides. So in 2001 we had put a (inaudible) with an allocation and we had — our units 

were 122 units so it was restricted at 30 percent, 40 percent, percent, and 60 percent, and there were 

additional 15 market units at the site. So we're eligible to resyndicate under average income for those 

15 market units, they weren't protected then. 

So I'll note a couple things. Over the last 15 years we've never had a finding from CHC, the Colorado 

State Agency, our syndicators, HUD, our lenders, all the people that monitor the signage for these 

programs, for not meeting those additional set-asides. And don't get me wrong, we've had findings, 

they're watching us and they follow some other things where we didn't intentionally, we were not 

intentionally out of compliance and we were able to fix it. But never once did we miss because of that 

category that were in the low restriction. So this kind of recaps previous kept money. 

This industry is fully capable of ensuring compliance and already has checks and balances in place to 

prevent abuse of the program. To add to what other people are saying, if an owner does abuse the 

program and simply does not follow what was agreed to in the eights and nines, the application, with 

the syndicator, with the state agencies, with all of the people that they may these promises to in final 

agreement, they are effectively — not only do they stand to lose all the credits and all of the losses that 

are going to happen from all the promises that were made, but they're effectively kicked out of the 

industry in addition to all of those losses. 

Because states have policies, syndicators have policies, to permanent ban those abusers, and states 

largely check compliance history. In other states when applicants apply for tax benefits and are not 

approved, bad owners. Syndicators will ask for 8823 history and will not approve deals with you if you 

have significant issues in your compliance history. 

These policies have occurred over time because there were frankly bad players at the inception of the 

program. But over 30 years they cooperated in ways, nationwide, with similar policies and procedures 

about that type of behavior. Purposeful noncompliance is simply not heard, and would equally be 



unheard of in an AI election because the provisions and enforcement will continue to prevent this in 

that fact. 

Additional provisions in fact are in place for AI properties that have been put in place by agencies and 

syndicators because this is a new program. So not only are all the old stuff applicable, there's also new 

stringent requirements. Trust me, I'm reporting a whole lot right now. 

Going back to my example, we resyndicated the property in 2018, turned those 50 market units to 60 

and 80 percent units and we ended up with nominated election under the proposed rule. And in fact it 

did not financially underwrite at 100 percent at 60. So we have to walk this backwards even if you allow 

us to go back to 100 percent at 60, it's not feasible at 100 percent at 60. We wouldn't have done the 

resyndication. We put this to a qualified contract, which was not out goal, and take it out of the program 

and losing that affordable housing because it just wasn't viable. 

Importantly, I just want to point out that we chose AI because there was not 100 percent clip, we chose 

AI knowing that if one unit, one 30 percent unit goes out of compliance, and we have violated our 100 

percent applicable fraction. We would have violated our 100 percent applicable fraction and we would 

get an 8823 under the finding of housing income above the limit at common issue occupancy, same as 

we would at a 70 percent unit or 80 percent unit. We wouldn't be able to claim credit until everybody 

else's testimony, we should not have credit because it does not cause the clip effect. 

I also would like to point out that as it relates to unit 6 designation, that the one thing that we haven't 

said today is that there are tenants that really kind of just deserve to transfer and that's why you're 

hearing the disparate impact. And the disparate impact is because the tenants, they weren't wanting to 

transfer because they want to transfer, and the only tenant in the entire affordable world or market rate 

world that are not going to be allowed to transfer are these tenants because of average income. And it 

just seems unfair across the board. So I just kind of wanted to throw it out there. We are forgetting 

about the tenant aspect of the property. 

So with full respect, I would appreciate if you would rescind this draft rule permanently and make it 

clear that it's permanent and that state policy prevails permanently. And that the occurred strictly so 

that we could start doing the election again. And if not, rescind the draft rule working (inaudible) with a 

clear message that you hear, that you are going to work with us and there's just 100 percent clip and 

that the unit designation things won't happen. And then we can also start doing business with AI again. 

And lastly, I just wanted to throw out that I do have a URL if you'd like to have it, a public record that has 

(inaudible) to 30 average income policies in it, similar to what you did with Virginia. If you'd like it I'd be 

happy to provide it. It's from Scott Michael Dunn at his Costello Company. 

MR. KELLEY: Okay. Thank you Ms. Brewerton. 

MS. BREWERTON: Would you like that link? 

MR. KELLEY: Yeah, why don't we start with that? Let's go ahead and get that URL. 

MS. BREWERTON: Okay. So again, this is 20 to 30 state agencies average income policies just so you kind 

of see where they're similar, where they're different, but the checks and balances support. 

https://www.costellocompliance.com\\blog. 



MR. KELLEY: Costellocompliance. 

MS. BREWERTON: C-O, C like cat, yes. 

MR. KELLEY: Okay.All right.Thank you. 

MS. BREWERTON: And if I could also just clarify too that, let's see, it was another handy gift to our 

readers, it's under that comment. 

MR. KELLEY: Okay, thanks. Panelists, any questions? Going once, going twice. Okay. 

MS. BREWERTON: Thank you again. 

MR. NOVEY: It took me a second to unmute myself. 

MR. KELLEY: Certainly. 

MR. NOVEY: I had it already at hand. Mostly just a logistic check to make sure that the regs.gov or our 

reg unit didn't mess up. That when you suggested originally that there be a hearing, which I at least was 

happy to hear we'd have a chance to actually discuss this directly, and you gave a summary of what you 

were going to say, you indicated that you expected then to be providing a full comment, at least a larger 

and longer comment to the proposed rule. And the regs unit at IRS and checking regulations.gov, there 

didn't seem to be such a longer comment. 

And, you know, we found and we were very interested in reading the five-part series of blog entries that 

you had written, and maybe you decided at that point that most of what you wanted to say even before 

the regs were up. But I didn't want to have missed a comment that you thought you had submitted that 

fell through the cracks. 

MS. BREWERTON: I'm so happy you asked that and thank you for doing so because (inaudible). 

So the whole thing to add to that but so what happened there was when you asked us to register and 

sending an email, there was a deadline, on the first deadline. It was March something. I apologize, very 

early March. I apologize for not knowing exactly when it was. It read that the deadline for the email was 

that date. And then it also said that, you know, we'll want them updated into the draft portal. 

I live in Texas and I live in Austin, Texas and at that exact time we were going through what we call our 

snow apocalypse, and so I was actually having internet issues. But I sent the email saying that I wanted 

to register, but when I also said that I would say something in the portal later. When I got an IRS email 

back, it said that basically I wasn't eligible because of missed, not uploading in the portal, it kind of fitted 

my case, and then she said okay, what are you going to say? So I just kind of said it really quickly. But 

just a general outline. And what I meant was I would be saying more comment and more elaborative 

comment today with you, which is what I just said. 

But I will also note that separate from that, two things. One, I mainly did provide comments originally 

after the original comments, I feel very comfortable that's kind of what I told her, if this isn't enough 

then please refer back to my other comments, I'll be saying the same thing, made under the general 

comments, written comment deadline. 

And then separate from that, nearly two years ago now there was an ADH forum where most of you all 

were on and where affordable housing world conference. And I think it was actually you that said hey, 



you know, we'll welcome any draft procedure if you'd like us to just review it, if it would be helpful. And 

we actually partnered with Novagratic and state agencies, we worked with HTH USA, and we did also 

provide that to you all because we were just trying to kind of get ahead of this. So if you don't have that 

in hand I can read from that too. 

MR. NOVEY: Okay. The thing that we have, and I think that I don't have any more, but my colleagues 

would have more than me because practically everybody is better with paper than I am. We have a 

submission from you on December 4 where you asked for a hearing and you had a one paragraph 

summary of what you wanted to say. 

MS. BREWERTON: Right, because the deadline for — I remember that. Yep. Thank you. 

MR. NOVEY: I think the deadline for all comments was just before New Year's. 

MS. BREWERTON: And I uploaded, basically our comment was that, I uploaded the interested comment 

and said that we were hand over hand considerably fully in support of both of those. And I just added a 

small comment there, a paragraph, yes. 

MR. NOVEY: Okay. I think that may have been missed by regs.gov or by our folks, but it sounds as if 

everything you wanted to say got through because we saw another Novagratic at the MCSHA 

conference. 

MS. BREWERTON: Correct. Between the conference, the draft procedure we provided, today's 

testimony, that upload, all those conversations, thank you. I feel like our comment has been heard. 

MR. NOVEY: Okay. Good. Again, regs.gov is pretty good and our regs unit is pretty good, but I just 

wanted to make sure that there wasn't something that had been sent in that we had missed. 

MS. BREWERTON: My only concern is that draft procedure — which is moot — I can resend it again. It 

kind of was — we were to propose deferred procedure, the flexibility that kind of saw through this clip 

issue and the unit designation, things like that. This is what we would like to have that case go over, 

more flexibility to state agencies. And we did that only because of your suggestion, we're not trying to 

be presumptuous, of course. And I'm happy to provide that again too. That might be best. I sent that to 

George Laquarta (phonetic) and Deon Staff (phonetic), so I'm not sure everybody here got that. 

MR. HOLMES: This is James. I didn't get it but if you sent it to Deon and George, our office should have 

it. 

MS. BREWERTON: Okay. That was sent November 12th of 2019. 

MR. KELLEY: I actually just pulled it up and found it so I'll circulate it to the group. Thank you. 

MS. BREWERTON: Thank you so much. 

MR. KELLEY: Okay. Great. Anything else from the panel? All right. Hearing nothing I think we're going to 

go ahead and conclude our public hearing on the Average Income Test regulations for today. 

So I'd like to thank all of our 15 witnesses for taking time and effort to put your comments together and 

submit them and walk through them for us today. And thank you for engaging in response to the 

question from the panelists. Great questions from the panel, I thought we had a real good give and take 



and I really appreciate that. All this feedback will be very helpful as we look for next steps to doing this 

project. Okay. 

Thank you so much for your time everyone, for your patience. We've been through almost five hours, 

and everyone have a great day. 

MS. BREWERTON: Thank you so much, we appreciate it. 

(Whereupon, at 4:46 p.m., the PROCEEDING were adjourned) 

 


